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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  ...thank Assemblymember Lieu for joining us, very much appreciate it.  He has some bills on this topic that passed this committee, I believe, and we’ve asked him to join us this morning.

Obviously today’s hearing is really about hearing from DGS on why it did not pursue purchasing more CNG vehicles as well as other alternative-fuel vehicles as opposed the E85-powered vehicles that we’re going to be talking about today.


My own opinion is, I think there’s only one thing worse than buying alternative-fuel vehicles for which alternative fuel is not unavailable, but the worst offense in many cases is not planning for the infrastructure, making sure it’s in place, so that these alternative-fuel vehicles purchased would be able to operate as alternative-fuel vehicles.  And this appears to be exactly what’s happened in California.  We’re going to hear from DGS today.  Hopefully they’ll tell us that they are in the middle of a bidding process to obtain this E85 fuel, but the question is, from my vantage point, is why is it taking so long.  Obviously the EPA Act was passed in ’92.  The state Fleet Requirement took effect in ’96.  And since 2001, 75 percent of our light-duty vehicles have had to be alternative-fuel vehicles in order to comply.  And the question is, since that time, why have we taken so long to have the infrastructure in place to make these vehicles truly green?


Another concern I have is that in many of the E85 flex-fuel vehicles, which are now being powered, as most of you know by now, by regular gasoline, how many have been deployed to regions in the state where we have the dirtiest air?  That would be the Central Valley and the South Coast Air Quality District.  I have asked for that information about geographic placement for these vehicles, still have not received it.  We do understand this is a big state, but at the end of the day we might be making the case today for that budget augmentation to make sure we can do better asset management of our vehicles, and I do have some questions on that a little later in the hearing.


I think it is pretty hard to imagine that flex-fuel vehicles are running on gasoline, somehow meet a clean-air requirement.  And I do know there’s an argument saying that these replaced older vehicles that would not have been as they are friendly.  And I guess the question of the hearing today is also why couldn’t we have bought vehicles, not just replacement value but it might have had some better, if you will, NOx and PM issues that would have been much better than the ones we replaced, meaning hybrids, as an alternative.  That might have been an alternative as well.

Today I do want to get some facts, I’ve mentioned.  We want to talk about the purchase of flex-fuel vehicles.  We want to talk about the alternatives that were available in terms of purchasing flex-fueled vehicles; we want to learn more about how we can ensure that alternative-fuel vehicles actually use alternative fuels; and, of course, how the state should proceed to be truly green in this effort.


With that, Assemblyman Lieu, do you have any questions or any comments you’d like to make?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER TED W. LIEU:  I’d like to thank you, Senator Florez, for inviting me to this hearing.  I look forward to hearing and looking forward to getting some of the facts put out on the table and maybe, sort of, push this issue along.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.


Let’s go ahead and begin the hearing with Panel I.  We would like to start, if we could, of hearing obviously a little bit about, in a general and hopefully a very concise discussion on the availability of ethanol and other alternative fuels in California.  And so if we can have Panel I please come up.  That’s John—I’m trying to pronounce—Boesel?—president and CEO of WestStart-CALSTART, and Tom Koehler, vice-president, government affairs, Pacific Ethanol.

Are any of those folks here?  Please come on up.  Great.  Good to see you again.


MR. JOHN BOESEL:  Nice to see you again, Mr. Chairman.  I appreciate this opportunity to appear before you and the committee, and I think this is a very important hearing and I think there is some additional information that is needed, so I’m very glad that this hearing is being held.


As I had indicated in the committee meeting last week, my organization, CALSTART, which is a not-for-profit organization dedicated to the growth of a clean transportation technologies industry, we have about 140 member companies who are fuel-and-technology neutral.  We think there are many paths to the future.  We put together a blue-ribbon commission almost two years ago now called the California Secure Transportation and Energy Partnership.  We had some tremendous members of that partnership that were part of it, including President Reagan, Secretary of State George Schultz, DaimlerChrysler, Volvo, former speaker pro Tem Fred Keeley, California Energy Commissioner Jim Boyd, and others.  And one of the top ten, key recommendations for the state to become a leader in petroleum independence and energy security was that the state really started walking the talk and that its own fleet be a model for other states and also the large number of fleets that are within California.  About 20 percent of all passenger-car sales are fleet sales.  So if we can set a great example here with our own fleet at the state level, we’ll be making some tremendous progress.  And what we had recommended was that the state adopt a petroleum-reduction goal, that compared to 2004 levels that by 2010—or I’m sorry—by 2012, they reduce their overall consumption by 10 percent of oil and that by 2020 they further increase it by 20 percent.  And this is in recognition that they’ll probably be adding vehicles, et cetera, so there are lots of ways that the state can do that.


Every year we’re seeing more and more alternative-fuel vehicles and hybrid vehicles become available for sale.  We’re seeing more options as we move forward and some very compelling options, and we think that right now one of the best single actions that the state could take to achieve those goals is to make sure that their existing vehicles that are capable of running on alternative fuels actually do run on alternative fuels.  There’s a tremendous public natural gas refueling network statewide.  I drive a Honda GX Civic, and I feel that I can drive really anywhere in the state perhaps, except for far northeastern California by Alturas.  I’d be a little nervous about driving up there.  But then the state also has a huge number of flex-fuel vehicles which do actually meet the California emission standards; otherwise, they wouldn’t be available for sale.  But they could really be helping us with our climate agenda and our energy security agenda if we figured out how to run them on E85 in particular.  And right now, nationwide, there are 1,250 E85 stations, so this can be done.


Just last week, an E85 station was put in, in Washington, D.C.  So it really can be done.  It’s not rocket science.  And I think in this state, the governor and the legislature have worked together to make California a leading state in terms of policy, and we now need a fleet to match our policies.  I think somewhere here in the building there’s a quote in concrete, you know, give me men to match my mountains.  And I say give us a fleet to match our policies out here in California.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how about a pump too?  That might help.

MR. BOESEL:  (Laughter)  A fleet and a pump.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  A pump would help at the end of the day.


MR. BOESEL:  Exactly.  So that’s my prepared testimony.  I’d be happy to answer any additional questions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thanks.  If we can hold on for a moment.  I do have a couple of questions.


Tom, thanks for joining us.  I know that you just walked in as we were coming up.  Just in general, I mean, we are making some pretty large investments in ethanol.  Obviously production has been—you read about it quite a bit. Maybe you can just give us a very brief overview of where we are with ethanol production in California, what you see for the future.


MR. TOM KOEHLER:  Certainly.  Appreciate the opportunity to testify.  Tom Koehler, vice-president, Pacific Ethanol.  We are the largest ethanol producer in the State of California.  We have our plant in Madera.  We also have, are in construction of plants in Stockton, California, as well Imperial. And there are numerous other plants, late-stage development and construction, across the state, not particularly in the San Joaquin Valley.  So we’re looking at, you know, ballpark figures, probably of around 450 million gallons of production coming online in the next two to three years, and more, right on the heels of that, particularly when the cellulose nut gets cracked.  So it’s a very bright future for the state.


A lot of people don’t know, just because I think it hasn’t really been trumpeted, but that California is the number one renewable-fuels market in the nation today.  We are displacing more gallons of gasoline with renewable fuels than any other state in the nation.  That can increase.  Today we’re roughly at 6 percent.  The governor and the State Board, Air Resources Board, have put into play a regulation that will allow that to go up to 10 percent.  So as we sit back and think about the policy rationale, certainly I would say as a state we’re being successful.  We have opportunities ahead of us as well, and certainly the advanced blending of higher blends is one of those.  From our perspective, the key is getting more cars, flex cars, out into the market.  And when that happens, I truly believe the market will respond.


As a California company, we’re working with the state, and Chevron, on a demonstration project of two areas—we’ve partnered with CalSTEP.  We agreed to supply the fuel for the 15 or so stations that they’ve talked about as well.  So we’re ready to help in any way we can and are here to lend a helping hand and encouragement to policy initiatives that can help further this.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you both a quick question, and I want to get over to General Services.  Just in general, I mean, you seem to be saying we’re on the cusp of being the leading producer at some point in time of alternative—or user—is that correct?


MR. KOEHLER:  Yes.  We are the leading user, and we absolutely can be the leading producer and that’s a goal that…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are your estimates in terms of the market based on fleets?


MR. KOEHLER:  No.  The estimate is based upon just the current use of fuel in the state, and fleets add to that certainly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What leads that discussion?  Does the state—the car lead the fuel or does fuel lead the car?  In other words, are we in essence saying—is it good policy to buy cars and wait for the fuel; or is it better policy in essence to get the fuel and then buy the cars, from your vantage point?  And you sell it and you make it, so what’s your thoughts on that?


MR. KOEHLER:  You need to do both, and you absolutely need to get the cars into the market.  And while they’re coming in, you need to do the best you can to fill them up.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how do you fill them up without distribution?  In your market, who ultimately comes in?  How do we incentivize retail outlets and others to offer—let’s use ethanol as an example in this case?  How do we do that?

MR. KOEHLER:  I think what we do is we make sure that the cars are there.  Today the product is cheaper than gasoline.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You just said the cars were here.  You said…


MR. KOEHLER:  No.  There’s not—I mean, if you’re talking about the state—and then we can hear from the state—but what I would do is, I would concentrate all those cars into one location instead of having them spread out.  And then I would concentrate them in a location where there can be centralized fueling and I would fill them up.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you wouldn’t put them in Sacramento or Los Angeles or Fresno with one pump in San Diego?  Not probably be a rational way to do it.  Would you agree with that?


MR. BOESEL:  Yes.  I mean, I think what we’ve learned with natural-gas vehicles is, it’s ideal to have sort of a cluster or an anchor tenant, if you will, or a big fleet that’s going to use those vehicles.  So that’s the ideal situation.  Clearly, the market has existed in other parts of the country where we have the other 1,250 stations.  We have a number of independent operators, owners of stations here who want to put it in.  CARB has already allocated some additional funding for it. We have a deal with eGRANT ?? to put in 15 stations.  So I think the money is there, and maybe the question is, How are going to ensure then that the state, vehicles that the state owns, actually get fueled up, you know, use the fuel?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  John, you say that it’s there, but I want to make sure that we understand.  Let me use Illinois, for example.  With a quarter of the money that California has allocated in the budget, Illinois is going to put 300 stations in, quadrupling what they currently have now in a year.  So I’m kind of wondering, How do we get ramped up in that sense?  I mean, CARB’s here.  We’re going to ask them some questions about money.  At the end of the day, there is a limited amount of money.  But it seems that Chicago or—excuse me—Illinois has done this very, very well.  Does it have to do with their ethanol production?  Is this just a state policy or maybe both can—I mean it’s just not—what’s driving that?


MR. KOEHLER:  Well, in the Midwest, they’ve been at it for longer periods of time.  There is a higher density of flex-fuel vehicles.  So, I mean, I think those two—and they’ve been focused at it.  And California, in their renewable-fuels game…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But we’re the green state.  I mean, we taught ourselves, as you know, the greenest state, you know, if you will, with the greenest governor.  So I’m wondering, why aren’t we as focused?  We obviously have a leader than can move companies very quickly into actions, so I’m wondering why we can’t have that same effort.  I mean, how do we do that here in California?


Does anybody know the Governor of Chicago’s name?  Okay.  I think everyone knows who Governor Schwarzenegger is.  We’ve all seen the covers and we all understand his emphasis, so why can’t we get that same emphasis here?


MR. KOEHLER:  Well, I think we are.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are we?  Okay.


MR. KOEHLER:  Just to be fair.  We are moving it at his, with his leadership and the leadership of ARB, going to 10 percent ethanol blends which is 600 million gallons of more renewable fuel overnight, so, I mean, that’s impressive. We are—certainly the state—is buying these cars.  So, yes, there can be some fine tuning, but I believe the leadership is there, and with your leadership as well, pushing it…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess our leadership on this side is, Where do we fuel up then?  You know, at the end of the day, where’s the retail strategy for—you know, I know we have talked about hydrogen highways, and we have hydrogen stations, right?


MR. BOESEL:  Right.  We have the largest number of hydrogen stations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How many hydrogen cars have we bought?


MR. BOESEL:  In the state?  I’m not sure.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Less than our E85, right?


MR. BOESEL:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  …infrastructure for that.  We have CNG.  We place these all along some sort of centralized way.


MR. BOESEL:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we buy a lot of CNG cars, and yet we buy 1,400, if you will, E85 cars and yet there’s, you know, one station in San Diego and three private stations in California.  I mean, I’m just kind of wondering, How do we make such a large purchase without also recognizing the infrastructure needs prior to that?

MR. KOEHLER:  Did you talk about the amount of stations that are coming online in the next….


MR. BOESEL:  Well, we’ve chatted a little bit about that.  I mean, I think that it is—what you want to be doing in these chicken-and-egg situations is trying to have your chicken and your egg at the same time.  So I think taking the step toward buying the flex-fuel vehicles is a good one.  But if you’re not then figuring out how to fill them up with E85, there’s a missing link.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The obvious question is, Can we have an E85 distribution center in the Capitol here, from your vantage point?


MR. BOESEL:  I see no-show stoppers at all.  I think it’s…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It would take an act of Congress or the legislature to do that?


MR. BOESEL:  Oh, here, in the building?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, in the building.


MR. BOESEL:  Leave that up to DGS.  I was thinking here, broader in the Capitol.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  From a supply state of view, is that a problem?


MR. KOEHLER:  No.


MR. BOESEL:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m just wondering.


MR. BOESEL:  And there are a number of independent station operators I would like to put E85 stations in the Sacramento Metro region.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what’s the problem from your vantage point?


MR. BOESEL:  They’re going to be getting some funding now.  And if they knew that the state vehicles were going to be, you’re coming and using their stations, that would certainly be a big incentive.  But it’s kind of a question mark right now as to…


MR. KOEHLER:  There’s been regulatory hurdles that the ARB has been working very diligently and quickly on.  So those are quickly becoming less of issues, but they’ve been there.  There have been hurdles and I would say generally, as a state, that we’re getting through them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Questions from members.


SENATOR DARRELL STEINBERG:  I know I walked in a little bit later, and maybe, Mr. Chairman, you already asked this question, but we always want to know what can we do to speed it up?  Is there any legislative action that we can take to speed up the retail aspect of what the chairman has asked about?  Is there anything we ought to be thinking about, inserting into bond implementation measures or budget trailer bill measures in order to speed this up?


MR. BOESEL:  I think those are really good questions, Mr. Steinberg, and there is a bill right now pending in the legislature, AB 118, authored by the speaker that would provide annual funding for vehicle and fuel deployment, so I think that would just really help accelerate things and move us forward, and that’s certainly one very important  measure.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And let me also recognize Senator Steinberg for joining us and also Senator Negrete McLeod.  Thank you joining us.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER TED W. LIEU:  I have a question.  The CalSTEP report shows that DGS actually exceeded the 75 percent mandate in purchasing the flex-fuel cars.  They were about 83 percent or so, and they’ve been doing this for years.  I’m wondering, did you know that, one, they were exceeding that mandate at times when they weren’t fueling any of their cars with ethanol?


MR. BOESEL:  I think that’s what we pointed out in the report.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  And they’ve been doing this since 1992.  And my question is, Did they ever, to your knowledge, go to a legislature and saying, or their administration, saying, hey, we’re buying all these vehicles that we can’t fuel with ethanol; put in more pumps?

MR. BOESEL:  I think it’s a good question for DGS.  There has been previous legislation on this topic.  Senator Sher had a bill, so I think the legislature has focused on this issue before.  But now I think it’s time to make sure the rubber really meets the road.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  And under your report, there is no real rational basis for exceeding the 75 percent mandate with an additional amount of cars that you’re fueling with gasoline?


MR. BOESEL:  Well, I think it’s good to exceed federal requirements, if you can, and in the right direction, and I think getting the flex-fuel vehicles out there is a good thing but not so great if you’re not running them on the fuel.  And I will say also, it’s not just ethanol.  But on the natural-gas vehicle side, I think going to the bi-fuel vehicle, you all seem to get compromised on that, that in the bi-fuel vehicle, they actually have a tank of natural gas and a tank of gasoline.  It’s so much easer just to fill up on gasoline, that they end up just filling up on gasoline.  There is a dedicated passenger car out there, a great car, the Honda GX, that it would be super to see the state purchase a lot of those and make use of the great infrastructure that’s out there, the 165 natural gas refueling stations.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Thank you.

Okay.  Gentlemen, thank you very much.  Appreciate it.


MR. BOESEL:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go ahead and hear from DGS, if we could. We have Will Semmes, the chief deputy director; and Rob Cook, former deputy director of Inter-Agency Services; and if we could hold on Air Board just for a moment.  There’s a section I would like to bring you up.  I want to ask specific information on our purchasing.


So gentlemen, thanks for joining us.  Appreciate it.

MR. WILL SEMMES:  Thank you, sir.  Pleasure to be here.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And, you know, let me tell you what I would like to do here.  Number one, I’d like to have a pretty factual conversation.  I’d like to know about the size of the state’s flex-fuel program.  I’d like to know about the rationale behind purchasing them, these cars.  I’d also like to talk about the current state of affairs with flex-fuel vehicles going forward, and of course, what we’re planning, if you will, in the future for various types of modes of cars.  With that, I do have a lot of questions.  So if I could just go through them.  If there’s anything I don’t cover, you’re welcome to add.  But let’s first start with the basic background, if we could.  DGS started purchasing flex-fuel vehicles that are able to run on E85 in what year?


MR. ROB COOK:  Let me give you a little bit of background on the overall state fleet and EPAct requirements.  The overall state fleet is owned—there are nine agencies that own 85 percent of the state fleet, 119 agencies overall that own at least one vehicle.  It’s a very distributed ownership associated with that.  DGS is roughly 15 percent of the overall state fleet, and these vehicles have been acquired by, more or less, everybody across.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you say “acquired by”, that means every individual department buys their own?


MR. COOK:  Yes, they do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what…


MR. COOK:  The agencies that choose to buy a vehicle buy their own.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What is DGS’s role in that purchasing?


MR. COOK:  DGS’s role is in setting policy and approving purchases.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So you approved every purchase, though?


MR. COOK:  We do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you’re the final say?  So it’s not fair to say that every department just kind of willy-nilly goes out and buys what it wants, correct?


MR. COOK:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I just wanted to make sure…


MR. COOK:  They bring forward their acquisition requests.  We review them, consider whether they need the vehicle, and whether it’s an appropriate application.


And one of the charts behind me will show, actually shows you the picture of what’s actually happened out in that marketplace.  We put E85 vehicles on the 2006 model year contract.  For the first time, back in 2000-2001, apparently they were on contract and acquired them too.  That predates me.  I’m not familiar with the decisions associated with that in ceasing to purchase those vehicles.  The primary vehicle that we used to meet EPAct compliance had been CNG vehicles for a number of years.  If you’re familiar with EPAct, our requirement started at 10 percent in 1997, 10 percent of the eligible fleet in ’97, ramping up to 75 percent of that fleet in 2000-2001.


As you can see what has happened with that marketplace, on this chart, you will see these are the number of CNG models that were in the marketplace through, over a period of time.  In 2004, we had 28 models.  It had ramped down from 51.  In 2005, it just plummeted down to three models that were available.  The State of California has the most complex public fleet, second only to the U.S. Government.  Those three models could not begin to meet the needs of a diverse fleet, such as the State of California’s.  We needed to find a solution.  And as you can also see on this chart…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So are you saying that we needed more flexibility?


MR. COOK:  We needed a substantial amount more flexibility based on the needs of the fleet.  And as you can see, the yellow bar here is the number of E85 models that were becoming available in the marketplace at the very same time.  And as you can see, those models of availability have skyrocketed, and that’s clearly—I mean, it became a no brainer, as far as that goes.  If you need to meet EPAct compliance—and frankly, there’s no question about that—incidental violations of EPAct come at a $5,000 fine per vehicle; willful violation of EPAct comes at a $10,000 fine and a criminal penalty but a $10,000 fine per instance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the fines are driving our—I read in Ms. Adams’—Linda Adams’ in Ms. Maureen’s column or editorial in the San Jose Mercury News this morning.  It seemed to be arguing that it’s the fines that are driving our decisions, so we have to purchase them or it’s going to cost us $5,000 per car?  I mean, is that the rationale?


MR. WILL SEMMES:  Sir, if I can just comment.  Will Semmes, chief deputy of DGS.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  If you can answer the question too, that would be helpful.


MR. SEMMES:  Absolutely.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that what’s driving our decision, a $5,000 fine?


MR. SEMMES:  No, sir.  That’s part of it, as it would be, because you want to pay attention to penalties for your risk management on how you’re dealing with a public policy law, like EPAct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did we buy any E85 cars in ’04?


MR. COOK:  No.  Zero.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In ’05?


MR. COOK:  No.  Pardon me.  They were for the 2006 model year.  So effectively, the fall of ’05, we were purchasing vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s use ’04.  So in ’04, we bought none?

MR. COOK:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And did we buy any flex vehicles in that year?


MR. COOK:  We bought—we did not buy—flex fuel, those are the E85 vehicles.  We bought none of those vehicles.

MR. SEMMES:  I remember the purchasing fees.

MR. COOK:  Yes.  There was a purchase ban in place for non-public safety vehicles that emanated from the Davis administration as a result of budget crises.  So actual light-duty vehicle purchases had fallen off pretty dramatically during the 03-04 timeframe.  They didn’t start opening back up until 2005.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess my question centers around, What was the penalty when we didn’t buy them?  Everyone’s saying that, you know, that it’s $5,000, but there were years when we didn’t buy.  So did we get penalized?


MR. COOK:  Oh, no, no.  Wait a second.  The State of California has always met its requirements.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  At 75 percent?


MR. COOK:  We’ve met our requirements since it’s been legally required at 75 percent.  That occurred about 2000-2001.  Yes, we’ve met our EPAct compliance goals.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the 2000—well, let’s first get the base case, if I could.  So we bought 1,463 in 2006-2007 E85 vehicles; is that correct?


MR. COOK:  That sounds correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how many purchases did we fund also on CNG?


MR. COOK:  Well, there was a total of 1,519 alternative-fuel vehicle purchases.  So it’s 1,519, less the number that you just mentioned _____ less than a hundred.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did we own any more, other types of flex-fuel vehicles, besides E85 and CNG vehicles?  Sorry.


MR. COOK:  There are a limited number of liquid petroleum-gas vehicles out there.  I mean, we’re talking very, very small numbers of acquisitions.  Predominantly, if you really want to boil it down, the predominant purchases were—I think there was a dedicated CNG pickup that was available and a dedicated—it was the Honda Civic CNG vehicle that were acquired in addition to the E85 vehicles by state agencies.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just by curiosity, do we still have methanol-powered vehicles?


MR. COOK:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So I can get for the record then, in the state’s fleet, how many total flex-fuel vehicles does the state own?


MR. COOK:  Overall, the state owns approximately 6,500 flex-fuel—pardon me—not flex-fuel vehicles—these are all alternative-fuel vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Running on, how about running on E85, since that’s the topic, how many?


MR. SEMMES:  Caltrans has 50 that we’re aware of.


MR. COOK:  That are actually running, part of the demonstration project.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So is it 2,600-plus?  Is that the number?


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.


MR. COOK:  Yes.  That’s close.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So it’s 2,600-plus.  And how many of those—how many of our vehicles run on compressed, natural gas, state-owned vehicles?  I’m just trying to get a total number.  So 2,600-plus?


MR. COOK:  Right.  That would be most of the balance, between 6,500, take the 2,400 off the bottom, and the balance are predominantly CNG vehicles.  And by the way, DGS has a policy, and it’s a statewide policy, wherever the fuel is available, agencies are directed to use that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right. We’re going to talk about that in a moment, but I just wanted to get the base case.  So the majority, the rest of them are CNG; is that correct?


MR. COOK:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what is the life cycle of these flex-fuel vehicles, starting with passenger cars?  How long…


MR. COOK:  The state standard, for life cycle for a vehicle, is 120,000 miles, seven years.  That’s…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Seven years.


MR. COOK:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how about a flex-fuel truck in our state fleet?  What’s the life cycle there?


MR. COOK:  Same.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Seven years.  And is there any function or restrictions on the use of flex-fuel vehicles?  You mentioned law enforcement.  Are there any sort of restrictions, exemptions?  Emergency vehicles?  I mean, do we have any restrictions?  Are they exempt from these particular requirements?


MR. COOK:  They’re not subject to EPAct requirements, no.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. COOK:  But several—I will have to tell you that the flex-fuel vehicles, these E85 vehicles, for the first time in the history of the EPAct program in the State of California, law enforcement officers and law enforcement entities are adopting this technology because there’s finally an alternative-fuel vehicle that actually can meet their needs.  That’s the first time it’s ever happened, and you will note that…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you mean, a law enforcement agency is saying, I can finally buy an E85 vehicle?

MR. COOK:  I can finally buy an alternative-fuel vehicle that can meet my needs.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Could that be an E85 vehicle?


MR. COOK:  Today that is an E85 vehicle.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And they’re making that decision based on the fact that—if you’re making it in Fresno, there’s no E85 station, and that would be a good decision?

MR. COOK:  The gentlemen before you laid out demand brings supply, and it’s always been the case, no matter what technology is being used here.  In alternative-fuel vehicles, the vehicles come first.  They’re easier to produce.  The fuel follows second.  Fueling infrastructure is a couple of million dollars at a pop, whereas a vehicle is $15,000 to $20,000 at a shot, and the differential on producing them is much smaller.  I mean, the difference between a flex-fuel vehicle and a standard vehicle, at least on the production end—and there are other folks who can answer this—is between $15 and $100 difference in production costs.  It’s really very tiny.  In fact, several E85 models, that’s all they’re made.  There’s several production models.  That’s the only thing that’s produced across the nation, and the state has in private hands anywhere from 250,000 to 350,000 E85 vehicles that are here in California today that could use fuel if it was available.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So is the argument, bottom line, is that we’re going to continue to keep buying these cars even though we may not have the retail?  I mean, if you’re saying that it’s the cars that are driving the fuel—is that our policy then?  We’re just going to continue to buy until there’s some signal that somebody wants to build…


MR. COOK:  Well, as you well know, sir, AB 1811 provided $25 million to ARB to incentivize this whole area, and the folks from ARB will touch on this, but they’ve got—they already have plans in the works to bring up something on the order of 34 retail locations and another 12 or 13 fleet locations in the State of California.  That’s a dramatic increase in the availability of this fuel, and that’s already in the works.


Also, Assemblyman Lieu, I’ve had conversations with your staff over your efforts in this area, and that’s the one thing I’ve consistently communicated to them.  We need retail locations for this fuel. And whatever we can do to incentivize that is where we should be going because there are a substantial number of—while the State of California believes it should have a policy leadership role here, there are a substantial number of these vehicles in private hands, and those individuals would choose to use this fuel if there are retail pumps available.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  I’m just trying to understand the consistency of the administration’s argument.  So you heard me mention earlier about hydrogen facilities.  We have more hydrogen facilities right now than we have E85 facilities, correct?


MR. COOK:  Um-hmm.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So where are the hydrogen cars?  I mean, why are we going the opposite direction then in that particular case?  We’ve put a lot of money in our state budget for that.


MR. COOK:  I do not understand why the hydrogen facilities are there versus E85 facilities.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I mean, this seems to be in opposite.


MR. COOK:  Frankly, it’s an anomaly.


MR. SEMMES:  It’s that development of technology.  I mean, the technologies get developed over time, and we’ve found that the ethanol that we’re certainly pushing helps us meet state and federal requirements, it’s environmentally sound, and particularly when it’s powered with ethanol, obviously, and it’s very cost-effective.  A hydrogen-powered car today is more expensive than an E85 vehicle.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So maybe we should, like, not worry about hydrogen distribution and worry about E85 distribution then?


MR. SEMMES:  No, sir.  I think that’s picking technologies.  And I think that the state shouldn’t be really sort of picking technology, to be trying different things and this is, you know, risk management.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Doesn’t DGS pick a technology when you say E85 versus hydrogen?


MR. SEMMES:  Well, this is that range of issues that you have to deal with to find a vehicle that meets your needs.  And with E85, it hits those three points I mentioned.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what would be the difference with CNG and E85 then in terms of the technology that’s probably tested, works, and we have more stations?


MR. SEMMES:  Well, to me, sir, it’s practicality in that I have a law enforcement officer driving a vehicle and he may fill up that tank at the Fresno pump.  And if he needs to be somewhere else to fill up the gasoline, it doesn’t really make a difference to him, and we don’t want to hurt his productivity.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Isn’t that why the feds allow us to exempt law enforcement?  I mean, it’s not a very good example.


MR. SEMMES:  Well, it’s the same for somebody…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Don’t need to worry about law enforcement.  So given that we don’t have to worry about law enforcement, why would we use that as the reason to buy…


MR. SEMMES:  So you can look at any other department.  It’s the same issue.  It’s the issue of the productivity of the person driving the vehicle.  We want to make sure that there’s flexibility for that individual driving that vehicle to make sure their productivity isn’t hurt just because we make a requirement for them to use a particular type of technology.

MR. COOK:  Well, and just one note, CNG, there are approximately 160 CNG stations in the state.  There substantially is a state that are not accessible to that technology, unfortunately.  Also, the infrastructure is predominantly in industrial areas at, you know, for example, PG&E yards or at a, you know, when you think of a UPS yard or whatever else.  They’re not in normal retail-type locations; and consequently, it’s a lot more complicated.  In fact, the state has to use six different payment mechanisms in order to access the various locations, and we have to put special access agreements in place with each one of those entities in order to be able to get at them whereas, if you’re able to drive onto a, onto a gas station, you know, there is no issue.  It’s a lot more complicated.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it, but you made it complicated because you’re DGS.  So why put the cars there in the first place?  I mean, if you have a CNG car in the Fresno garage, which is my hometown, and there isn’t a CNG facility for 40, 50 miles, why do it?  Why send your cars there?  I mean, it seems like a rational policy would be, send cars to where there’s available fuel.  You just mentioned a policy about that earlier.  I’m going to talk about that in a moment.  But why do that?  I’m just trying to understand the rationale for that.


MR. SEMMES:  Here again is that practicality issue.  And as you mentioned earlier, DGS is about to advertise a bid for, in fact, 3,000 gallons of ethanol for the Fresno garage, so we’re pretty excited about that.  So again, it’s that mixture of different options for those drivers.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s talk about the location of the cars since we’re talking about that.  The very basic question, and that is, do we know where all of our flex-fuel vehicles operate today?  I know we’ve asked you that over a course of a week.


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir, and Pablo asked me about that yesterday as well but that one of the things that we are putting in is a fleet asset-management system, computerized, and we’re eager to get that because today we have incompatible systems coming from different departments with that information.  And so it takes us sometime to put that stuff together but we would like to do that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s concerning—I mean, so in other words, you’re telling us you don’t know where the majority of vehicles are?  Is that what you’re telling us?


MR. COOK:  We can identify the home base for vehicles.  As I indicated before, there are lots of agencies; there are lots of agencies that purchase these.


SENATOR FLOREZ:   Got it.  If you don’t where the home, if we’re just kind of getting a general idea where the home base is, how do we even know that they would be using E85?


MR. SEMMES:  We can take a look at the DGS leased-vehicle fleet that comes out of those state garages, like at Fresno, for example.  And so we know that that’s a very practical option because those vehicles are leased from that facility and often use that facility.  So putting ethanol fuel supply there, it makes a lot of sense.


MR. COOK:  And in fact, we retrofit our two tanks at the state garage.  We have two tanks at the state garage.  We retrofit them for environmental permitting purposes over a year ago.  In preparation for all of this, we made one of those two 15,000-gallon tanks compatible with E85, so it’s ready to go and that was forward planning, knowing that we were stepping into this area.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Forward planning would mean that we would have one in Sacramento as well?


MR. COOK:  Well, this is the state garage at 10th and N.  It’s right over here.  It’s where your vehicles are fueled.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And it’s running and it has E85 available?


MR. COOK:  The tank has been retrofit.  There is a bid that will be out on the street, I believe tomorrow.


MR. SEMMES:  It’s tomorrow.  I’m not sure exactly what I can comment on, on an ongoing bid.  But I just spoke with the procurement specialist who’s actually working on that, and they apparently are ready to advertise for final review today and possibly advertise it tomorrow, so we’re kind of excited to see people bid on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And when was that decision made to advertise it tomorrow?


MR. SEMMES:  Oh, there’s no decision made.  It’s the procurement process, and DGS has the procurement process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So you’re going to announce that we’re now going to be advertising for an E85?


MR. SEMMES:  Just like we would any other fuel contractor essentially.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why didn’t we do that a week before this San Jose Mercury News talked about this?


MR. SEMMES:  Because…


MR. COOK:  It’s been in the procurement pipeline since January.  It followed the main—there’s a bulk-fuel contract that went out this spring.  The same folks who were specialists in that area were focused on this.  That contract is enormous and saves state agencies an enormous amount of money, and that was the first priority.  This is a follow on.  Because of the specialization of this type of fuel, they had to come at procurement a little differently than that procurement, but it’s been in planning since January.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, since January.  Do we know then—I mean, are we hinging our information on the budget augmentation to give you some better asset management tools in terms of where the vehicles are?  I mean, Senator McLeod, does she know—you can tell her with any certainty how many of these vehicles are in her districts or Senator Maldonado?  I mean, we just made a simple request that said, we’d like to know how many.  I mean, is that possible today?


MR. COOK:  We can tell you what the DGS fleet and where it’s assigned and who it’s assigned to and where—we can give you the street address for its home base.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s DGS?

MR. COOK:  That’s DGS.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about all the cars that we buy?


MR. COOK:  The rest of them?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  So DGS, what percentage of…

MR. COOK:  Let me give you the rundown on—like I said, there’s 119 different agencies that own at least one vehicle out there.  There are a handful of agencies.  The big nine own 85 percent of the fleet.  Several of them have fleet asset-management systems.  The fleet asset-management systems we have that was in the governor’s budget, and it will be, when the budget is enacted, will be available to us.  Well, linked to those legacy systems that will be able to connect to 60 percent of the fleet; and at some point in the future following that will bring up all the other agencies on a web-based, fleet asset-management system.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I guess I’m just trying to wonder, the policy rationale for—let me just use another state—Illinois.  Illinois has an asset-management ability to track every single vehicle.  They track exactly what kind of fuels in those vehicles, and they make their decisions based on that.  So in other words, they will say in Senator Maldonado’s district people tend to use this fuel more because we know where every single car is and every single agency.  And therefore, they make decisions on CNG; they make decisions on E85; they make decisions on other types of hybrids; they make decisions based on the facts.  And I think what we’re doing is we’re saying, well, generally, we believe, if we just buy cars, then the fuel will come, in one sense, meaning, E85s.  In the other sense, we say, maybe if just put the fuel stations first in and then the cars will come—and that’s hydrogen—and so I mean at what point do we have some sort of rational way, let’s say—I’ll use Illinois, for example, with their asset management—to track exactly what these cars are using and therefore make decisions based on memorandum.  And you’ve cited to say we shouldn’t have cars unless there’s the fueling station available for it, be it CNG, be it E85.  At what point are we going to be ready for that discussion?  Because that seems to be a better and a rational way to deal with it.

MR. SEMMES:  We’re absolutely excited about the fleet asset-management system.  I mean, that’s going to enable us to really lead the pack, and we have a  lot of improvement to do on how we analyze the use of our fleet, and that system is going to be key to doing that because we just don’t have the—every one of those departments has a different method of tracking these vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ve gotcha.


MR. SEMMES:  And so these are legacy systems and it’s complex; and once we get that, we can really do some real asset management and look at that properly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Now the gallons used, you said 18,000 gallons of E85; is that correct, that we’ve used thus far?


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.  It’s about 19,000 now but…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Why is it that Illinois—and I’ll just use them, for example, which isn’t touting itself as the greener state; it’s just, I think, just trying to do its job.  Why is it that they have fewer flex-fuel vehicles but actually have used about 100,000 gallons and we’ve only used 18(000)?  I mean, why do they have less of these E85 vehicles in their state—right?—a lot more, less than we bought and yet they use about 100,000 gallons of E85, and we have fewer vehicles and we use like only—I mean, more vehicles—and we only use 18,000.

MR. COOK:  Two key issues associated with that.  One, we’re a very large fleet.  When we buy vehicles, we buy—I mean, our annual acquisitions probably are close to what Illinois has an entire state fleet, for starters.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But on a ratio, why are they using—I mean, they’ve got fewer cars; they use more gallons.


MR. COOK:  Right.  The other part is, they’re basically adjacent to corn belt.  There are parts of this country where you can drive exclusively on E85 and you can name the states pretty easily—Iowa, Nebraska, Illinois—happen to be the Midwestern states.  They’re big corn producers, happen to have both—they’ve built the infrastructure.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s safe to say that that state’s made a priority, right?


MR. SEMMES:  Or, sir, that there was industry there that was prepared for it because, remember, this is a private-sector push where we’re encouraging it through government, of course, but that may have been an industry situation because of being in a corn belt or whatever…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why does it work in California for hydrogen?  Why do we build the facilities and yet not have the cars?  Why does that work?  I mean, the governor talks about the hydrogen highway.  Maybe that has something to do with it, people come in.


MR. SEMMES:  I think you can probably look at the same thing with electric perhaps, that there are different technologies that are attempted over time, and some are more complex than others.  And perhaps when hydrogen fuel storage systems become more advanced that will—be prepared for that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me be more specific, if I could.  The E85 cars, we said, you know, Illinois 100,000 gallons, less cars; California, 18,000 gallons.  But even our 18,000 gallons, that has nothing to do with our current cars that we purchased, right?  That’s just a demonstration project by Caltrans, like 20 cars; is that correct?


MR. COOK:  Those are vehicles that Caltrans purchased, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  But it’s not through—it’s a demonstration project; is that right?


MR. SEMMES:  It’s not separate from a regular procurement, though.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s in your account.


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.  We approved the purchase of vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so 20 cars account for all of those particular …


MR. SEMMES:  That’s right.  I actually believe it’s 50 vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Fifty vehicles?


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.  I corrected on that this morning.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So if 50 vehicles account for—and the rest of the 1,400, we haven’t filled one ounce of ethanol; is that correct, just a demonstration project?


MR. SEMMES:  I believe so, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So I guess the question would be—well, we’ll get to that for a moment.


Let me ask you on that demonstration project, if I could, that I just mentioned, that was a GM demonstration project?


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  General Motors?


MR. COOK:  Vehicles were General Motors, and the fuel supplier was Chevron, and the demonstrators were…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess I’m referring to—In January 5, GM had a press release where it said it was going to offer Chevy Impala passenger cars and Silverado pickup trucks for consideration in our annual bid process.  And as you’ve mentioned, Chevron Technology Ventures then agreed to work with Caltrans to provide this E85 and installed the necessary refueling pumps for that particular project.  And I guess the question I have is, were the vehicles ever provided to Caltrans by GM in that project?  I think you mentioned 50; is that right?


MR. SEMMES:  Sir, if you don’t mind, Lisa may stab me later, but Lisa Kunzman who’s the fleet manager for Caltrans, is here today and very kindly offered to help out with some technical answers there.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Come up.


MR. SEMMES:  Sorry, Lisa.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sorry.


MR. SEMMES:  I will buy you dinner.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thanks for joining us.  Let’s go to the—I think I heard you mention on January 5 of 2006, GM announced in a company news release that it was going to offer between 50 and 100 E85-capable Impala passenger cars for consideration in the state’s annual competitive-bid process.  You’re aware of that?


MS. LISA KUNZMAN:  Yes, I am.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And Chevron Technology Ventures agreed to work with Caltrans; is that correct?


MS. KUNZMAN: Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And they were going to install the necessary refueling pumps for Caltrans.  Is that the agreement?


MS. KUNZMAN:  There was a Memorandum of Understanding that was nonbinding.  That was the intent, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And were the vehicles ever provided to Caltrans?


MS. KUNZMAN:  The vehicles were purchased by Caltrans off the Statewide Vehicle Contract that DGS executes, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what were the terms of their use?  Did the state buy these vehicles, lease them; were they for free?


MS. KUNZMAN:  No.  We purchased them off the Statewide Vehicle Contract.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And then a little later, in my home paper, the Fresno Bee, on August 6, 2006, Caltrans announced it was going to begin testing 550 to 100 of these sedans, these E85 sedans.  Has that project started?


MS. KUNZMAN:  Yes, it has.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And is it still going?  It’s still in effect?


MS. KUNZMAN:  Yes, it is.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What have we learned from that project?


MS. KUNZMAN:  Caltrans is more of the operational partner in this.  ARB is collecting data to test the emissions part of it, and I would defer to ARB on the technical aspects of the pilot.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What were the benefits of the pilot?  I mean, why would California want to participate in this pilot?


MS. KUNZMAN:  I’d defer to the technical reasons why we’re running the pilot to ARB.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me hold my questions for ARB on that.  But I guess my thought is, is that we—well, first of all, again, you’re going to defer that question to the Air Board of why we got into this demonstration…


MS. KUNZMAN:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  …project?  Okay.  So what’s your role as Caltrans?  Because the Air Board told us to or…


MS. KUNZMAN:  Because they needed a state fleet to use for the demonstration project; and Caltrans being one of the larger state fleets, we’re one of the partners that was part…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And GM then offers that early in 2006 as the demonstration project.  We take it; you’re running it now; there’s obviously benefits from an air board perspective.  And then later in the year we buy 1,400 of these from GM on a larger basis.  Is that the timeline?


MR. COOK:  We bought—they were the winner of the state contract, and, yes, we bought a substantial number of E85 vehicles to meet our EPAct requirements.  And as I indicated, we switched over to E85 because CNG...


SENATOR FLOREZ:  GM was the only person we could have picked?


MR. SEMMES:  They won the bet.  So, you know, it’s—even as we talked about earlier, the procurement process is not the simplest thing in the world and that the barriers to make it fair are well set up, and so the procurement process was the procurement process.  The bid was not contested, and I think we feel pretty good about it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how were we so lucky earlier in the year to get a demonstration project offered by GM?  They just decided out of the goodness of their heart to come in and offer this to California?

MR. SEMMES:  Again, sir…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Knowing they were going to bid later in the year for a much larger contract?


MR. SEMMES:  Sir, I don’t think that there’s any correlation within DGS whatsoever on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do I know that?

MR. SEMMES:  Well, sir, I think we have to have some faith in this procurement process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the procurement process…


MR. SEMMES:  It is a fair and very rigorous procurement process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m going to ask you some more questions about that in a minute.


MR. SEMMES:  Sure.  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So from your vantage point, the reason to buy—well, let’s put it this way: the year before we bought in 2006, the E85 vehicle from GM that was in ’06—we bought 1418, 1400-plus GM, correct?  Right, E85s, right?  So all of a sudden we went from—the year before we bought zero; and the year before that we bought zero; and the year before that, we bought five.  All of a sudden we decided with GM we were going to buy 1,400 after buying five total cars the three previous years prior to that.


MR. SEMMES:  Sir, I think if you look at our chart that would say that, you could make that comment.  But when you look at…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just looking at numbers.


MR. SEMMES:  Absolutely.  But when you look at those in context, we had a ban on vehicle purchases so, you know.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what year was that?


MR. SEMMES:  That was ’04.


MR. COOK:  In ’03 and ’04, there was a ban on nothing.  Unless it was a public-safety vehicle, it wasn’t acquired.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how about ’05 where we bought zero?


MR. COOK:  In ’05, the Vehicle Purchase Ban was lifted in May of ’05 and agencies—it wasn’t until the fall of that year that agencies really started acquiring vehicles and really kind of behind because frankly they needed to be replacing some vehicles during the 03-04 timeframe.


MR. SEMMES:  So that’s why you see a surge in purchases; and at that same time, a decline in model availability of CNG, for example.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  The surge was since the EPA mandate.  And since the ban, we’ve bought 99.6 percent of every car we could have bought was E85 then, right?  So in other words, we didn’t even make another decision on any other technology?  That’s what the numbers say; is that right?  From the time the ban was lifted?


MR. COOK:  That number is not—99 percent is not an accurate number.  We have acquired a substantial number of…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  1,418 out of 1,426.


MR. COOK:  That were, that could have been purchased?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  E85s.


MR. COOK:  Well, wait a second.  In that same timeframe, CHP is the single largest purchaser on an annual basis of vehicles.  None of those were E85 vehicles, nothing the CHP acquired.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to the rationale then, if we could.  Let’s go to the EPA Act that you mentioned.  You mentioned earlier that we were—now were we forced by the EPA Act to purchase these types of vehicles?  I mean, what’s the constraints from an EPA Act in ’92 that makes California participate in this program?


MR. COOK:  The simple statement—the Energy Policy Act of ’92 reauthorized in 2005 requires the State of California to purchase 75 percent of its light-duty—we’re talking passenger—vehicles that are non-law enforcement as alternative-fuel vehicles.  That 75 percent requirement kicked in.  I mean, it ramped up.  It kicked in about 2000-2001, but it’s been at that level since.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And again, what type of analysis did DGS conduct before purchasing the E85 vehicles, given that mandate?


MR. SEMMES:  Well, I’ll use that very specific procurement process we talked about because we have to meet the agency’s needs and that’s what the procurement process is designed to do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And did the procurement process take into account fuel-use data?  I mean, there was another option, right?


MR. SEMMES:  No.  And this is the point we’re making about the fleet asset-management system.  We know that we have to purchase these vehicles, and EPAct talks about the vehicle purchases and not exactly about the fuel.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How is it that you bought, you did an analysis at the very base didn’t include fuel-use data?  I mean, you’re buying cars that use a different fuel, but we didn’t necessarily use fuel, to use data, as the base case for analysis?


MR. COOK:  As the standard happens in all fuel vehicles, the vehicles come first.  The fuel follows.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see.  How about locational conditions?  Did  you look at locational conditions?  You mentioned a memorandum earlier that said, if the fuel’s not there, we really would discourage buying vehicles if it’s not readily available.


MR. COOK:  That’s not the policy.  The policy is, where the fuel is available, you’re required to use it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Did you…


MR. COOK:  Not if the vehicle is, it happened to be—the vehicles can be placed wherever.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the locational conditions, in terms of your criteria, wasn’t used either then?  Is that fair to say?


MR. COOK:  Pardon me?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Locational conditions, the location of the vehicle, where it will be placed, as opposed to where the fuel’s at, was that used as a requisite part of your analysis for picking E85?


MR. COOK:  No, it isn’t.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No?  Okay.  How about replacement measurements, replacement, if you will, things that could have been used, things that you were replacing to benefit, was that used in the analysis for picking E85?


MR. SEMMES:  Absolutely.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how many months did it take to compile that?


MR. COOK:  It was fairly—that was actually, I mean, as far as the cost differential on using E85, these vehicles are on contract at about $14,600.  The alternative is a dedicated CNG vehicle that is much less easy to use across the breadth of California.  It comes in at $22,200, a difference of $7,751 per vehicle.  Out of those acquisitions, we saved millions of dollars by going over to flex-fuel vehicles that are much easier to use and offer the future promise when the fuel is available of greenhouse gas reductions.  And to another point…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When does the future kick in?  I mean, at some point, when does the future of…


MR. COOK:  ARB will…


MR. SEMMES:  It’s kicking in now.


MR. COOK:  The future, as far as investment in this area, is happening today.  Pacific Ethanol spoke to that.  ARB is bringing up 34 retail locations and another 13 fleet locations.  That commitment of infrastructure is the biggest investment in fueling infrastructure in alternative fuels that has ever happened in the State of California’s involvement in EPAct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  But couldn’t you have bought those when we had the fueling stations available?  I mean, couldn’t you have bought some other alternative or used—I mean, couldn’t you have done hybrids, for example?


MR. SEMMES:  Hybrids don’t meet EPAct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I mean, under EPAct, don’t you have the ability to in essence move to another section in EPAct?  Let me just find it for a minute.  I guess—where is that?  You have an alternative compliance provision in EPAct, right?  So in other words, under alternative compliance, you can pick other alternatives?

MR. SEMMES:  That’s the new—you mean the new one that just came out in 2007 is compliant?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MR. SEMMES:  That alternative compliance strategy just came out this year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, actually it was due in May.


MR. SEMMES:  It was due last year.  It was just published through the Federal Register.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Due last year, so it’s not fair to say it just kind of happened.


MR. SEMMES:  Well, it came out on the Federal Register for us, for our purchases, that will happen over this next year, so we will certainly take that into account.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, let’s go back for our original premise of the hearing, and that is, you want the most flexibility.  Most flexibility under this particular program, the reason for it is it offers flexibility.  It allows us to buy things that clean the air particularly, like hybrids, for example.  I mean, why wouldn’t we have purchased those that have a fuel that are cleaner, better on the air, probably have the governor not—it isn’t just about greenhouses; he’s also about clean air.  And why wouldn’t we have at least bought under that program or at least applied until such time that the market really did take hold or that the ARB’s money did kick in and there were retail establishments?  Why didn’t we head down that route?


MR. COOK:  There are a couple of reasons on that one too.  One, they don’t meet EPAct requirements.  So consequently, the don’t go there.  The other…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  EPAct offers you that—there’s three other states that are taking an alternative right now.  California isn’t one of them.  Why is that?


MR. SEEMES:  Well, there’s a cost difference here too.

MR. COOK:  Well, there’s another issue, and it’s a constrained supply.  Hybrid vehicles have been very popular with the private sector; and our ability, even under state contracts, to even acquire those vehicles has been really constrained.  The state agencies…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  A government purchaser with purchasing power doesn’t have as much power as the private sector when he’s buying…


MR. SEMMES:  Have you looked at the numbers, sir?  There’s a difference.


MR. COOK:  When dealerships can charge sticker or above on every vehicle they can get a hold of in this category, this state doesn’t have any purchasing power.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m not going to ask Mr. Moss ?? to come up here and dispute that.  But I’m wondering, on all the purchasing power in the State of California in terms of fleets, you’re telling me that the dealers are holding and waiting because the individual demand for hybrids is much larger than a huge fleet coming in and saying we want to purchase 1,400 vehicles?  I mean, then why have DGS?  I mean, why have mass buying?  That’s a fact.


MR. COOK:  We ran into this problem.  State agencies were actually trying to order hybrid vehicles.  We could not get deliveries on hybrid vehicles, even though they were on state contract.  The dealerships were constrained in supply because they were in high demand all across the country, and our orders went unfilled in this area.  The State of California has attempted to purchase in the hybrid area.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But we made that decision even before, so we made a decision not to apply this year for the flexibility of applying for hybrids and other types of vehicles under EPAct that would have met the requirement; is that correct?  We just missed the deadline—or actually, we do have another deadline, extended two months; we have till July 31.  Is there a consideration by the administration giving all of the clean air talk that we need to clean the air into the dirtiest basins to at last consider until this is really up and running, putting hybrids or other technologies that save us on other type of things, such as NOx and PM, and not just greenhouse?  I mean, is there any consideration from you, DGS, to look at that category to apply and make the July 31 deadline of this year?


MR. SEMMES:  Of course there’s that consideration, but we look at the life cycle of these vehicles as seven years, and we’re seeing ethanol coming online very shortly and we’ve got this contract for the…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You just said that—look, ethanol may not be here for seven years, and the useful life of a car, you just said, was seven years.  So what good is it to buy an ethanol E85 car, by the time ethanol is running, that it’s already lived its useful life?


MR. SEMMES:  We see ethanol coming in, in just a few months, so that’s what our purchasing looks like.  So I mean, I don’t see seven years—I mean, we’re going to be—seven months, for us possibly to purchase our E85 off of the state contract that we’re in the middle of right now.  So I don’t see how there’s a delay in seven years.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  With what you’ve just said, you’re going to fuel 355 cars in LA, 262 in Oakland, 391 in Sacramento, and 156 E85 vehicles.  With that supply you’ve just mentioned, you’re going to be able to meet, fuel all of those with—how do you do that?  We have one station now in San Diego.


MR. SEMMES:  Right.  That’s the point of a flexible-fuel car, sir, is that we have to be practical with the people we lease these vehicles to.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The purpose of the flexible-fuel car is, what you’re telling me, is right now you can put regular gasoline in it and it’s okay.  That’s not—I don’t think that’s the point of cleaning the air.  I don’t necessarily think that’s the best option when you have other alternatives out there like hybrids that you don’t have to, in essence, wait.  I mean, I’m just trying to understand.  I mean, it seems like what you’re saying is, it’s fine, because we can just put regular gasoline in it—is that what you’re saying?—until such time…


MR. SEMMES:  It has to be practical, absolutely.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s practical?


MR. SEMMES:  Absolutely, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  All right.  Let me just ask a few more questions, if I could.  There’s nothing in our state garages right now, in terms of flex, E85?


MR. COOK:  As far as fueling capability?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MR. COOK:  As I said, as soon as the contract is brought in, we will have fuel over here at 10th and N, including fueling vehicles from this building.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about the Los Angeles state—Los Angeles?


MR. SEMMES:  Three thousand gallons?


MR. COOK:  Yes, we’ve got…


MR. SEMMES:  The way the contract is split out—and again, I’m not sure if I can talk about all the stuff on an ongoing bid—but there’s about 60,000 gallons being ordered, 3,000 thousand gallons…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You don’t have to give the specifics.  I just want generally, is LA going to get some?


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  How about Oakland?


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Fresno?

MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  San Diego is taken care of, right?  They have one now?


MR. SEMMES:  I believe that’s the case.  I’d have to check.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When will all that occur?  When will all of this occur so we can have some sense of…


MR. SEMMES:  Very shortly.  I mean, you know, the bid goes out, the respondents put in their bid package, and we will award a winner.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s, if we could, talk about the flex fuel, the DGS compliance.  So at this point in time, we are in compliance with the EPA Act?


MR. COOK:  Yes.


MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We are, okay.  Have we—yes, Senator McLeod.  Thank you.


SENATOR GLORIA NEGRETE McLEOD:  I have a question and, no, I can’t reach across.  That’s it.  You said that most of the cars are here.  Are you talking about the legislators’ cars also?


MR. COOK:  Yes.  There are—if I know the numbers correctly, there’s 17 Senate vehicles that are E85 vehicles that will be able to be fueled at the state garage as soon as that fuel is available.


SENATOR McLEOD:  Because it’s my understanding most of the legislators’ cars, as I look at them down in the basement, are hybrids.  So hybrids couldn’t be filled with this kind of…


MR. COOK:  No, they can’t.


SENATOR McLEOD:  Okay.  Because I drive a hybrid and I’ve been driving a hybrid for seven years, and so I’m just curious because I know the legislature has bought hybrids.  And am I not right—are most of the cars down in the basement hybrids?


MR. SEMMES:  There’s many ??.


SENATOR McLEOD:  Okay.  All right.  Just curious.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you tell me—yes, I’m sorry.  No, go ahead, Assemblyman.  Go ahead.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  When we were doing research into the bill I’m carrying to make the state fleet actually use alternative-fuel cars—alternative fuels?—because I understand that you actually exceeded the 75 percent mandate in purchasing E85 vehicles.

MR. SEMMES:  Yes, sir.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  My question is, why would you do that because you clearly have a cleaner fleet if, instead of exceeding 75 percent, you stopped there and you purchased hybrids with the remaining or if you purchased other alt-fuel vehicles and then fueled them with alt fuel?


MR. COOK:  There’s no question that hybrid vehicles from a greenhouse gas perspective are cleaner.  They also have better fuel efficiency.  Frankly, that’s the key, is better fuel efficiency leads to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  But I don’t know if you were in the room at the time.  We’ve had supply constraints on hybrid vehicles.  We put in orders that have gone unfilled from state agencies because our suppliers have not been able to get enough hybrids to supply…


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  But you could have bought regular vehicles that would have been cleaner than E85 vehicles above the 75 percent and didn’t do that.


MR. COOK:  Well, many of the vehicles that we’re talking about have gone into law enforcement applications that were, one, exempt from EPAct in the first place, but they finally were able to adopt a flexible-fuel vehicle or an alternative-fuel vehicle…


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  And you exceeded a 75 mandate on non-law enforcement vehicles.  Why would you do that, knowing that you weren’t fueling them?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.


MR. SEMMES:  The question is, Did we exceed EPAct?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I think the question was direct.  I mean, why would you exceed…


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  You were at like 85 and 90 percent…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Ninety percent…


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  …in purchasing these flex-fuel vehicles.  You didn’t have to do that.  You could have stopped at 75, had a cleaner fleet, because it is worse to buy a flex-fuel vehicle and fuel it with gasoline, because when we called the DGS, the response we got was almost along the lines of, we’re doing really well; we’re getting 90 percent.  We’re exceeding the federal mandate.  That was sort of what we were getting.  And at some level, you know, you all knew you weren’t fueling it with E85.  So I’m just wondering, why are you exceeding the 75 percent?


MR. SEMMES:  Sir, those cars don’t pollute any more than the cars that are pure gasoline.  Using that Chevy E85 Impala, for example, the gasoline…


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  Wouldn’t that be replacing smaller non-petroleum cars?


MR. COOK:  Actually, I’ll give you a little case study on what we did.  Going to the Fresno garage, there were 37 vehicles that we replaced.  The greenhouse gas emissions of those 37 vehicles was 28 percent higher than the new vehicles that we took into that facility, those E85 Impalas.  We actually reduced the greenhouse gas footprint.  Running them on gasoline, they’re cleaner vehicles than what we replaced.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would they have been cleaner than hybrids?


MR. COOK:  Not cleaner than hybrids.  But when they have the opportunity to run on E85, they will be cleaner still.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  But clearly, there are vehicles other than Impalas that are not E85 capable that are cleaner.  It’s just a fact, right?


MR. SEMMES:  Perhaps not in that duty class.  I mean, I think there were two cars like a Hyundai Sonata and a Toyota Avalon that might be cleaner than the Impala.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  And then this goes to my second question.  Did you buy any light pickups that were E85?


MR. COOK:  Yes, I believe they were.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  And why would you do that when there was a CNG model available?


MR. COOK:  Because of the flexibility of the vehicle.  CNG requires depending on where the location of the vehicle is.  I mean, you have to—the constraints associated with the CNG supply and a dedicated CNG vehicle makes many of them very impractical for state agencies.  That’s been an issue with adoption all along with CNG vehicles.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  I mean, I understand that complying with environmental mandates is not meant to be easy, but it seems like at the point when there was a drop off in CNG vehicle models, there’s still a lot available you could have purchased, and so you purchased flex-fuel vehicles knowing you aren’t going to fuel it with E85.  And the problem is, if your justification is, you want to lead the market and create this market out there, it’s sort of different than when you see what the administration’s been saying, and as Senator Florez pointed out, they’ve been going along with this hydrogen-to-highway path, putting it into their budget, and we’re not sort of seeing that, and I’m sort of hearing for the first time that actually what you all meant to do was to start this ethanol market in California through the state fleet.  And I’m hearing this for the first time, and so that’s why I’m a little suspect with the justification…

MR. SEMMES:  The hydrogen highway, that’s looking long term and we’ve got strategies that have to get, you know, put into place over time.  It’s not just switching to one whole new infrastructure.  I mean, it’s kind of like, you know, they built highways in California when there was hardly a population in some areas, and look how valuable they’ve been.  I mean, it’s an infrastructure investment.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  But if the governor knew you were spending $17 million over 1,000 E85 cars, why didn’t he say, let’s just do the ethanol highway first because we’ve got all these ethanol cars…


MR. SEMMES:  These are going concurrently.  These are multiple technologies that are getting put into place at the same time.  And there’s some that are immediately available and some that aren’t.


MR. COOK:  What we have today is a substantial number of flex-fuel vehicles that are available to us.  The vehicles that we have hydrogen vehicles today are prototypes.  They’re all prototypes.  And the hydrogen highway is a decade-long strategy.  We have to conduct the business of the state today, and flex-fuel vehicles have proven to be a very successful ad to the fleet.  And I said there’s additional promise for reduced emissions from those vehicles when the fuel is available.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Maldonado.


SENATOR ABEL MALDONADO:  Everything that I’m hearing here today—and I’ve got to be honest with you that I’m somewhat confused.  The E85 Impala that we’ve been talking about here today, does that cost more than a normal Impala?


MR. COOK:  No.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  It’s less?

MR. COOK:  It doesn’t cost—the cost is the same basically, in essence, the same.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  So there’s new technology in the E85 but it doesn’t cost more?


MR. COOK:  No, it doesn’t cost more.  Well, let me—actually, the best comparison…


SENATOR MALDONADO:  Doesn’t it cost more because you buy it in bulk, like Senator Florez said, right?


MR. COOK:  We actually—the State of California in most vehicle categories gets a nice discount against standard retail.  The one vehicle that would actually be the easiest comparison is the Crown Victoria.  The Crown Victoria, the 2008 model year, is being offered to the state at the very same—in fact, it’s a flex-fuel vehicle; it’s a police-pursuit vehicle.  There’s no added cost to that vehicle to the State of California.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  What I’m trying to figure out here, just listening to some of the conversation from the committee, obviously there’s mandates for you to buy vehicles.  I understand that.  I think Assemblymember Lieu understands that also; all of us do.  But you have the situation where you knew that purchasing an E85 Impala without the station in place was going to be dirtier than buying another car on normal gas that’s cleaner.  You knew that, right?  You didn’t know that?


MR. SEMMES:  If you’re talking about different vehicle classifications, if we had said, we’re going to not use a large-sized vehicle in a particular utility and we’re going to use a small-sized vehicle, then, sure, we could have done that, but that’s not what the agency…

SENATOR MALDONADO:  Did you folks call or did you call somebody and say, you know what?  We’re buying E85s; we don’t have the stations for E85s; we’re running them down the street, but the article says 10 million miles; they’re dirtier than buying a normal car; why are we doing this?


MR. SEMMES:  Well, sir, we don’t see them being dirtier than a normal car.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  This article’s wrong?


MR. SEMMES:  Looking at the Impala, it puts out the flex-fuel Impala on 100 percent gasoline; it puts out 8.3 tons of emissions per year and the gasoline, 100 percent gasoline, on 100 percent gasoline, puts out the same.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you say tons, what do you mean by tons?


MR. SEMMES:  Tons of emissions is the…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What kind of emissions?  What are you talking about?  Greenhouse?  Are you talking about…

MR. COOK:  It’s greenhouse.  These are also partially zero-emission vehicles so that they’re very clean vehicles.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  This article before me is wrong?


MR. SEMMES:  If they say that…


SENATOR MALDONADO:  It says 8.5 tons versus 7.3 tons.


MR. COOK:  On which…

SENATOR MALDONADO:  On greenhouse gases.


MR. COOK:  On which vehicles?

SENATOR MALDONADO:  On both cars, the same cars.  Just one’s flex and one’s normal.


MR. COOK:  No.  That’s inaccurate.  You can go to fueleconomy.com which is hosted by the USEPA.  It will give you those ratings, and those numbers are inaccurate.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  Just one last question, Senator Florez.

We have a small business, and I’ve got to be very sincere with you, that when times get tough, you make decisions that you might not want to make and sometimes you make decisions that are easier to make when resources are there.  But I just can’t fathom the notion that people buy in a car to clean up the air when in fact we knew that the stations weren’t going to be there.

Now who are we trying to fool here?  I mean, I don’t understand that concept.  Now I understand something has to come first—the cars or the fuel station.  But we couldn’t get them a little closer, 10 million miles, 1,138 cars?  And I can go on and on and on.  It doesn’t make sense to me.


MR. COOK:  It’s part of leadership in ceding the marketplace.  I mean, the State of California.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  Leadership?  That’s leadership?

MR. COOK:  That’s leadership, sir.  When the ARB is going to be talking about the fueling stations, they’re going to be bringing up as a result of an investment by this state—you have to have the vehicles out there to draw; the demand’s got to be there for the fuel to come.  It’s happened in every single category of alternative fuel.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Except hydrogen highway, right?


MR. COOK:  With the exception of hydrogen and that’s an anomaly, frankly, but I think…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Don’t tell the governor it’s an anomaly.  He’s put his pen to everything on it.  His state-of-the-state speech is on it.


MR. SEMMES:  Sir, remember, that’s a long-term investment and I think we have to be clear about that, long term versus short time, management of meeting these requirements, getting an environmentally sound vehicle, and getting cost-effective purchase.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Assemblymember Lieu.


MR. COOK:  And the point of the anomaly is that it’s unusual in the history of alternative-fuel vehicles.  That’s where the anomaly is.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  Just two more questions.  I just wanted to fully understand.  What you’re saying today is, that for this sedan, this Chevy Impala running on gasoline is the cleanest possible car out there, notwithstanding any other sedan in the United States?


MR. SEMMES:  I didn’t say that at all, sir.  The testimony was that there are two vehicles in that large-size class that I understand—I think one’s the Toyota Avalon and the other is a Hyundai—I don’t know the exact model—that may be cleaner burning but this is a flex-fuel vehicle that we purchased, so it has that advantage and it’s still an ultra-low emission vehicle.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  So what Senator Maldonado was saying was exactly that point.  You can buy a cleaner sedan than this Chevy Impala running on gasoline.


MR. SEMMES:  It may not hit the procurement requirements.  Remember we have…


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  No, no, no.  But Senator Maldonado’s question was, you can buy a cleaner sedan than a Chevy Impala running on gasoline?

MR. SEMMES:  I don’t think you can get it through the procurement process because it’s not going to meet the requirements of the bid.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  And then my second question is, these are passenger cars meant to carry passengers, and I understand some people, you know, you’re sitting in a Honda Civic.  It is smaller.  But why couldn’t you buy that?  I mean, why not make some state employees sit in some smaller cars?  What’s their policy to buy a large sedan, and so many of these large sedans all over California?  What job function requires this large sedan out there?

MR. COOK:  We have—well, a good point.  We have actually purchased both Honda Civic hybrids and Honda Civic dedicated CNGs.  That’s into the DGS fleet, not just the general state fleet.  We try to use all of those vehicles.  The acquisition of many of these vehicles have been adopted in law enforcement capacities.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  Non-law enforcement.


MR. COOK:  Non-law enforcement?

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  When would you need this large sedan over a smaller sedan, a smaller vehicle?

MR. COOK:  When you have equipment-carrying requirements, lots of field officers that are assigned in various locations have additional equipment or files or whatever carrying capacity.  Those are the sorts of things that would be…

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me just get back to a few more questions on the penalties that you’ve mentioned earlier.  Well, let me just ask a general question.  Did the governor support this?  I mean, is he going to continue to want to purchase?  Are we on a road now--I think of E85—or is there going to be some thought that we may want to apply to the other program, which is the alternative compliance program which allows us more flexibility with hybrids?  I mean, do we have any indication from the administration on where they’re heading?
MR. SEMMES:  Well, sir, you’re talking about DGS procurement of vehicles, at least for our preparation for this.  We could certainly run that of our chain of command and get that answer for you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And let me ask a question in terms of the EPA Act.  We mentioned earlier the 75 percent threshold.  The goal of that again is to what?  I mean, big picture.  What’s the spirit of this whole federal act about?  What are they trying to tell California?

MR. COOK:  Well, I will tell you, the Federal Energy Policy Act, there are two things, two distinct agendas that occur in this entire policy area.  And sometimes they coalesce and sometimes they diverge.  One is reducing petroleum use.  The other is reducing emissions.  Sometimes those things match up; sometimes they don’t.  If you’ve seen a flex-fuel vehicle versus other things, it’s about—flex-fuel vehicles in that area and much of EPAct is focused on reducing petroleum use.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a question then.  Given that reducing petroleum use means that we’re using another fuel, right?  So in other words, one of the goals is, reduce petroleum use means we’re not using regular petroleum.  We’re using E85, for example, and I won’t get into the emissions issue.  I’ll talk to the Air Board about that.  But let’s just use the first premises you’ve mentioned.

Given that it’s to reduce petroleum use and given that we haven’t put any E85 in any of our vehicles but 20—and of that, only 18,000—the question I have for you is, Are we violating the spirit of the EPA Act?  I mean, at the end of the day, are we violating what we are telling the feds that we’re really doing?  Because what we’re telling the feds are, we’re buying these vehicles to reduce petroleum use, and yet we’re still putting petroleum in it.  So, I mean, are we violating that from your vantage point, or are we just kind of buying the cars and saying we’ll get caught up with you guys later when the fuel’s available?  I mean, just your viewpoint.  I mean, it seems to me that we would be at least violating the spirit of the EPA Act.

MR. COOK:  Well, first of all, if you wanted to say that the federal law can lead to some interesting consequences, you know, get in line.  There are plenty of us who actually have been trying to practice with that law in place and trying to meet those federal requirements and trying to meet the spirit of that.  The state has invested in building its own CNG infrastructure.  Frankly, that is not something that we are any good at.  We are not as building-dedicated infrastructure on state facilities.  It’s something that we really aren’t particularly good at.  As a consequence and the only real place where any of this is ever going to have the kind of impact that we’re really looking for is when this fuel is available at retail locations.  That’s where the private sector will be able to take advantage of this fuel.  That’s where our distributed fleet is traveling all over California.  It needs a distributed retail network to support it out there.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So again, what are the penalties?  I mean, has there ever been a penalty given by the EPA in terms of a state not complying with the said 75 percent threshold?

MR. COOK:  I can only speak to California’s experience.  We’ve complied with it, so we’ve never been subject to those fines.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And would it surprise you if I told you there has never been a fine given by the EPA in terms of someone not meeting the 75 percent threshold?

MR. COOK:  It wouldn’t surprise me, although the law does state that if you willfully violate it, that you’re subject to criminal penalties of $10,000 per vehicle per instance.  I think we would have some difficulty coming forward with a budget change proposal for paying those fines ??.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But I guess my point is, how do we not get a penalty when we tell the federal government we’ve bought the vehicles but we’re not using the fuel that we’re supposed to use in the vehicles to meet the act?  I mean, that to me is just…
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  _________.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  I just don’t understand how we don’t incur penalties by, you know, by buying the vehicles and telling the federal government we’re in compliance because we bought the vehicles but, by the way, we’re not putting the fuel in?  That in essence…

MR. COOK:  Well, if you want to know about the rationality of that particular act, they will tell you in their instructions that actually acquiring the fuel is not required under the act.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. COOK:  They will tell you that.  Okay.  That’s in the Federal Register.  We do our best to comply with the spirit as well as the letter of the law.  And as I’ve indicated, the state is investing heavily, frankly, in bringing up retail locations that we’ll be able to use in the near future and where we can retrofit our existing infrastructure that’s on state facilities to bring that up.  That is meeting the spirit of the law as well as the letter.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s get back to the DGS.  Who writes state administrative manual policies, management memos?  I mean, who writes those that we live by?  Is that you folks?  Is it…

MR. SEMMES:  Department of Finance, DGS.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Give me that slow again so I can…

MR. COOK:  Department of Personnel Administration.

MR. SEMMES:  Department of Personnel Administration and Department of General Services, Department of Finance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  DGS.  Go through it slowly.  I want to know…

MR. SEMMES:  Finance, Department of Finance.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Finance, Department of Finance.

MR. SEMMES:  Department of Personnel Administration.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And those three?

MR. SEMMES:  I believe so, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You mentioned the memo earlier.  There’s a memo, 04-20, which outlined the vehicle purchased and lease policy whereby DGS requires, “that state offices, agencies, and departments must purchase alternative fuel vehicles that operate on alternative fuels currently available in California.”  And I guess my question would be, that policy was in effect on July 6, 2004, to July 6, 2005.  Was that a good policy?  I mean, it basically says that, you know, we’ve got a purchased vehicle.  We have to purchase our vehicles based on the fuel that’s currently available in California.  Was that a rational policy?  You mentioned, is it good or bad?  Or just your thoughts on it.

MR. COOK:  It’s a good policy that we’ve modified to accept the market realities of declining availability of CNG vehicles and the escalation and availability of E85 vehicles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so are you saying, was that policy allowed to lapse?
MR. COOK:  It wasn’t allowed lapse.  It was modified.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And it was modified, and it as modified in a way that was pretty silent on E85; is that correct?  So it was modified to say that, to the maximum extent practical, each office and agency and department that has bi-fuel, natural gas and bi-fuel propane vehicles in its fleet, shall use respective alternative fuels in most vehicles.  Why the policy change there?  I mean, what happened in January 31, 2006, the same year that E85, you know, demonstration projects, were offered to California and we decided to buy the E85 vehicles later in the year?  I mean, all of a sudden policy changed in the same year.  I mean, why was it modified from a very simple got-to-purchase-the-fuel-that’s-available-in-California to something that says to the maximum extent practical?  You know, it’s kind of this wishy-washy change in policy to accommodate somebody, and I’m just kind of wondering why we made the change in the first place.

MR. COOK:  We didn’t make that change to accommodate anyone.  What we did was to…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why did we even change?

MR. COOK:  That policy change was made to accommodate the market reality that we were not going to be able to meet our EPAct requirements relying solely on CNG vehicles.  They had evaporated.  They had gone from 28 models available to prior year to three, okay?  Meanwhile E85 vehicles had skyrocketed in availability.  It was quite clear where the market was heading.  The State of California buys 4,000 to 6,000 vehicles per year.  While that may seem like a large amount—it’s large for a state in general—it doesn’t make the market move all by itself.  If you want to put it in context, the parent company…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you’re saying there was more choice in E85 and that’s why we made the change versus CNG?  So then more choice in terms of models.  I mean, you know, Senator Maldonado mentioned the fuel.  CNG in 2006 alone, we use about 15,000 gallons in Sacramento, 2,600 gallons in Los Angeles, and the state actually purchased 61,000 gallons of CNG just in 2006 alone, which kind of dwarfs the 18,000 we used for E85.  But you’re saying the policy decision, that the word to the maximum extent practical, is to accommodate the fact that the models of CNG actually reduced so small and there were lots more models available in E85; is that correct?  Is that basically why we’re doing this, because we’ve got more choice?  Your chart had it.  Where’s your chart again?  I think your chart had that.

MR. COOK:  It’s right over here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe you can you just hold that up real quickly for the members.
Now your chart says we have 59 choices in 2007.  That’s fine.  So we have more choices…

MR. COOK:  Versus three.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Versus three.  So you can see, Senator Maldonado, we only have three choices now.  That’s why we change.

Let me ask you a question.  Of the 59 choices we have—you can put it down.  Of the 59 choices, that’s a good chart.  But of the 59 choices that we currently have, I mean, how many of those actually meet California air standards of 59 models?  Not many, huh?

MR. COOK:  I don’t know the number.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why would you represent to the committee that we have 59 choices when we don’t even know that all 59 meet California air emission standards that we could even offer?  I mean, isn’t that kind of…

MR. SEMMES:  I think the point was number of…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I know three CNGs do.  But of the 59, how many actually meet our air standards?

MR. COOK:  Those numbers were not put together looking at ARB certification.  But we also know that there are ongoing efforts associated with many of the manufacturers to certify according to ARB standards.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  ARB isn’t going to let you buy stuff that’s bad for the air.  So let’s just—you know, let’s just, you know—I guess my point is, of the 59, how many of those cars are actually—what’s our real choices there?  You say there’s only three CNGs so that’s why we made this policy change, and then the chart says 59 but the ARB, you know, I don’t know what they’ve approved of the 59 vehicle choices.  I mean, how do we—how do I make sense of that?

MR. SEMMES:  I think that might be just a separate chart we could put together for you to show exactly which those models are that are the ultra-low emission vehicles.  But I still think the number of models is going to…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it ten?

MR. SEMMES:  I couldn’t guess, sir.  We’d have to really take a look at that.

MR. COOK:  I don’t know the answer, but I do know that multiple manufacturers are going through the certification process.  I know that a couple of years ago, the Crown Victoria was not certified under that, in that configuration and today it is.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I want to make sure Senator Maldonado and I hear this because we were talking and bantering about it.  So the policy was changed into this very simple, I’ll call it Senator Maldonado/Santa Maria/Shafter rule model, which is, don’t buy cars you don’t have fuel for.  Okay.  Real simple.  And then we changed it to, unless the maximum extent practical and then therefore it was to accommodate future technologies, future fuels.  And the rationale that you’ve mentioned was because we did that because CNGs, the models that we were going to buy, were now limited down to three.  You brought to committee to say that we have a chart that says we have 59 choices.  And I’m going to tell you, we only have one choice right now and it’s called the Chevrolet Silverado GMC—we only have one choice called the Impala.  So why would we go—so it’s not 59 choices—we have one choice and one manufacturer.  So why would we move from CNG when we only have really one choice?  I mean, that was the argument made by the administration a week ago in one of the periodicals I made that we could only buy one, and that was the Impala.

MR. SEMMES:  I think it meant that was the E85 was…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But we have less choices.  Isn’t it true that we have less choices in terms of E85, in terms of models bought, than we have in CNGs—would that be correct?—in terms of what’s actually approved by the ARB for use?
MR. SEMMES:  Again, I think we should put those numbers together to really have that conversation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, we’re just looking at numbers.

MR. SEMMES:  Take a look at them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We can hand it to you but, I mean, it’s just—maybe you can take a look at it right now, and that’s from the Department of Energy.

MR. SEMMES:  Okay.  Thanks.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what are our choices then?  Because we have less choices, apparently, is the argument.  But now, you know, the argument is that we have more choices on the E85s; so therefore, we move in that policy direction.  And I guess the question is, Given we have less choices there now, why would we almost in kind of a sole way pick a sole, you know, manufacturer that produces this?

MR. SEMMES:  Well, we’ve got two because we bought the Silverado also.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Silverado.
MR. SEMMES:  Yes.  So we’ve got the Impala and the Silverado, but I think we should really sit down and take a look at that and compare it to the numbers that we have and take a look at that…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Silverado is a truck, right?

MR. SEMMES:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of cars of cars, there’s only one choice.

MR. SEMMES:  Sir, again, I’d have to take a closer look at this.  I’d have to take a look at our procurement policies because there was a procurement process that this all went through that is a competitive bid to look for…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  A competitive bid that only one company wins, right?

MR. SEMMES:  One company wins in general—not can win but just only one bidder wins.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  According to the specs, right.  According to the specs, only one can, right?

MR. SEMMES:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  1985.

MR. COOK:  Lets put this into context.  Our bids go out to dealerships, not to manufacturers.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. COOK:  Multiple dealers are competing for the state’s business.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But you’re talking about the price of the car.  I’m talking about the practical effects of other types of technologies that give us reduction in greenhouse gas, give us reduction in NOx, give us reduction in PM, and those are different—I mean, the specs that you’re talking about are, look, we’ve got—Senator Maldonado—we’ve paid $60 less for this thing and we should all be happy about that.  I guess there’s only one choice in this.

MR. COOK:  The same thing can be said of the Honda Civic CNG.  There’s one choice in that marketplace…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, you have three on your chart so…

MR. COOK:  There are basically…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s your chart, right?
MR. COOK:  Yes.  As far as a sedan in the CNG world, it’s a Honda Civic, end of the story.  You can make that same argument there.  What our chart indicates is, we expect over time a lot more vehicles be certified for the State of California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. COOK:  There’s a lot more opportunity.  Clearly the market is moving in one direction.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got it.  But we just said earlier, you’re not going to be fuel specific or technology specific.  We made a change here in this policy that allowed us to get into this whole issue, I think, in the first place, that in essence says to the maximum extent possible and it mentions natural gas it mentions propane vehicles.  It’s just a completely different, complex type of a policy change that the Department of Finance participated in, that you participated, and the Department of Personnel participated in.  Somebody made a policy choice here in 2006, and I’m just trying to connect all the dots.  I’m sorry.  I’m just trying to figure out why ethanol has kind of rolled into California with a demonstration project, and then the policy changes, and then we buy 1,400-plus cars that we’ve never bought before.
MR. SEMMES:  Sir, I just don’t see how we can make that correlation.  I mean, look at the trend.  The trend is…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m trying to figure out how to not make the correlation, given there’s only one choice.

MR. SEMMES:  Sure.  I think the way you don’t make it is that the trend is that the models available of ethanol or flex-fuel vehicle cars is going up and the models available of CNG is going down.  And so you have to make a policy shift looking at the reality of what that is.  And only one bidder wins the bid.  That’s just the way bids work.

SENATOR MALDONADO:  …CNG, when you have no stations there.
MR. SEMMES:  That’s a problem and, clearly, the industry has said it doesn’t matter.

SENATOR MALDONADO:  I don’t understand.

MR. SEMMES:  We should talk to the manufacturers maybe because, I mean, there are a number of models…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  They’re coming up in a moment so let’s…

MR. SEMMES:  Okay.
SENATOR MALDONADO:  I think it’s just in the business of making you feel good that we’re buying E85 cars when in fact stations aren’t even there.

MR. SEMMES:  Yes.  But remember the three points we’re making is that we have these federal requirements; we have the focus on…

SENATOR MALDONADO:  I understand that.

MR. SEMMES:  Yes.  And then the practicality of the costs.  I mean, you can just see the cost difference.  I think we could have a different conversation if we had bought all hybrids.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  But why couldn’t you meet the federal requirements by buying a heck of a lot of CNGs?  I just don’t understand why it’s so important to have a Chevy Impala over a Honda Civic.  I don’t get that.

MR. COOK:  The flexibility of that dedicated CNG, the state has a long history of buying bi-fuel CNGs that were largely rejected by state agencies.  They were not well adopted by state agencies, and those are vehicles that had both the CNG tank in them and a gasoline tank.  And the adoption over the—we had seen, when I came into the—the state had purchasing those since the ‘90s—the adoption of those was very poor.  When the choice became a dedicated CNG vehicle, it suddenly became a much more difficult vehicle for state agencies to use.  And, yes, we could have bought a bunch of vehicles, but most of them would have frankly been parked someplace, and that is a bad outcome for the State of California.
ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  I guess my problem is that we have mass produced Honda CNGs all over California being bought by normal people who are driving them with no problem fueling it.  And we are California.  We’re not another state where we’re supposed to do the hard thing, not the easiest possible way we can find, to get out of it.  And so it just seems like you all could have bought a lot more CNG vehicles, and would it have been somewhat harder to fuel them?  It probably would have.  But soon it was doable ??.  It wouldn’t have been impossible to do.  So that’s sort of, at least my concern.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me follow up, I guess, feature Senator Lieu.  It wasn’t the only alternative, but can the state apply for an exemption, and exception, if you will, if the fuel is not available?

MR. COOK:  Yes.  We could have filed for something…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So why…

MR. COOK:  But again, there were a number of efforts moving forward to bring the fuel forward at some point.  So this is a matter of leading with the thing it always is led with, and that’s the vehicle, followed by the fuel.  And as you can see, the production of this fuel is expanding dramatically within this state.  The efforts within the administration to bring up retail locations is also proceeding.  You see where the trend is going?  And we were simply being out front with the vehicle, which is the thing that always led in this area.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I guess, again, I don’t understand the trend, and I don’t understand the consistency of the message when you look at hydrogen highway and you say, let’s just build the stations and the cars will come.  And here we’re saying, if the cars will come, then the stations will follow.  I’m just—I mean, it’s hard for us, given that we’ve put money in the state budget for both projects, right?  Hydrogen highway and the money given to the ARB in order to help produce more retail and try to find some consistency and message there.  That’s what’s hard…

MR. SEMMES:  One is much longer term than another.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. SEMMES:  I think that may have something to do with it.

SENATOR MALDONADO:  But in the meantime, we purchase cars that are going to go out of service.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In seven years.

SENATOR MALDONADO:  _______.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In seven years.

MR. SEMMES:  We don’t agree with that in that we see the ethanol coming along a lot faster than that, particularly since we’ve got a bid going in right now to buy…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, Senator Maldonado has a longer term than all of us here, so you better (laughter)—we’ll make sure—he’ll make sure that he follows that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Go ahead.
ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  Two news articles reported that the San Diego ethanol station that the state fleet actually had fuel there, is that inaccurate in the articles that we read?

MR. SEMMES:  Can you say it again, sir?  I’m sorry.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  That the ethanol station in San Diego, that we actually didn’t use it to fuel the cars with ethanol.

MR. COOK:  We certainly can use it.  I don’t know how many vehicles are in proximity to that station.

MR. SEMMES:  It’s a private station.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  I guess, having read that article, I’m just curious why should we have confidence, and we have ethanol stations that actually would use ethanol rather than just go to a gas station and fill it up because again there’d be no requirement for you to do so.


MR. COOK:  Well, no.  There is a policy requirement, as much as—there is a policy requirement, that when the fuel is available, we use that fuel.  I mean, I can speak on behalf of DGS.   We are religious about following that policy, and we fuel vehicles with CNG capable.  And when that fuel is available, as indicated, we retrofit one of our 15—we have two 15,000-gallon tanks at the state garage here at 10th and N.  We retrofit one of them to accommodate E85—the fuel is a little more corrosive and we had to make some changes.  When the fuel’s available—and it should be actually shortly—we will be filling one of those 15,000-gallon tanks with E85 and fueling all of our E85-capable vehicles that are in proximity to that location with that fuel.  That includes some vehicles that are leased from this body.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s get to the heart of it that Assemblymember Lieu mentioned—and this will probably drive Senator Maldonado even more nuts—but of the 18,000 gallons of E85 that we have used and 20 were caused by the 20 in the demonstration project is my understanding; is that correct?


MS. KUNZMAN:  Actually, there’s 50 vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Here’s the question then, I guess.  Of the E85 pump that we do have in San Diego and of the cars that we have that run on E85 in San Diego, how many have been fueled with that pump?


MR. SEMMES:  We’d have to look that up, sir.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  Do you have any idea?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  How about none, zero?  Would that surprise you?  None.  I mean, here we have the pump and now we even have the car, and yet not a drop has gone into any of those cars, other than the demonstration project.


MR. COOK:  I don’t know how many vehicles are in proximity to that pump.  I just don’t know.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is it more than one car that could have—one car in San Diego with the one pump—I mean, getting the fuel that’s in San Diego, one car?


MR. SEMMES:  We’d have to do that research for you, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  This is an oversight hearing; you come to the committee; we’re talking about E85; we’re talking in the press over the last two weeks.  There’s one pump in San Diego.  People have written editorials from the administration disputing that there may be more, if you will, and more retailers to come and you can’t tell us with any credibility that the cars that we currently have that are E85 purchased have even went to the pump that we have in San Diego to put the E85 in it, and you’ve come to the committee and you tell us that we don’t know the answer to that.  I mean, that’s it.  I mean, there’s nothing more than that.


SENATOR MALDONADO:  …bad part of town?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it in the bad part of town?


MR. COOK:  I couldn’t tell you that.  None of us have been there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  All right.  Let’s move on then.  Let’s, if we could, go to the Energy Conservation Reauthorization Act.


Let’s go to some proactive things, if we could.  The alternative compliance provisions in the EPA Act of 2005, we’ve mentioned, and that did state that we can purchase hybrids or fuel-efficient vehicles in order to comply.  And I guess the question I have is, given that we had a deadline that we have not applied for—three other states have applied for—they’ve given us till July 31—I think I made mention this at the beginning of the hearing—do you see DGS moving to this category now, given the fact that our E85 issue, at least at this point in time, you know, at least from this committee’s perspective, probably somewhat suspect, I mean, do you see us moving to this alternative compliance category that would allow us more flexibility?

MR. SEMMES:  Sir, this is something we’re certainly going to take a close look at.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But the deadline is something like two weeks, so how do you take a look at that and meet a July 31 deadline in order to even be in the program?  I guess what I’m saying is, and I think Senator Maldonado would agree, I am absolutely sure the governor is not going to stand behind a policy that says we buy more cars even though the fuel’s not here.  I really highly doubt that that will occur.  I don’t think we put it in the budget, quite frankly, and I think the budget is still with us.  So, I mean, I’m just trying to wonder why we would agree to that policy and what would be the alternative if we didn’t?  Would you turn to that program?  Is there something else we can do?  Okay.


MR. COOK:  It’s a possibility; but as I’ve indicated before, our ability to access the volume of hybrid vehicles that even state agencies have tried to acquire above and beyond EPAct requirements; I mean, we’ve had hundreds or orders returned because we haven’t been able—the private-sector demand for those vehicles say that they can sell them at retail or higher.  Why do they need to give the state a discount?


MR. SEMMES:  There’s a tremendous cost difference that needs to be taken into account.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  But there’s also highly efficient fuel vehicles in that category that are actually more cost-effective than the Impalas you’ve bought.  So if that’s the case, if numbers are the only driver in terms of cost, why wouldn’t we…


MR. COOK:  The payback on those vehicles is actually about—those vehicles would have to be in service for 12 years at current fuel rates in order for us to achieve payback on the cost difference.  There’s a premium of about $9,000 per vehicle on those, on those assets.  That’s something that has to be taken into consideration.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I do have questions about fueling infrastructure.  I’m going to leave the Air Board, since we funded that.  But let me ask you a question.  What is your role, as you say, you know, the future of ethanol, which is the retail, you know, the retail centers that will produce this, and we have a plan.  Are you part of that plan, or is that simply an ARB-driven plan in terms of making sure that we actually have the retail necessary to fuel our cars, even though we don’t fuel, even though cars we have in San Diego with the pump?  I mean, how are we going to do that?


MR. SEMMES:  ARB is driving that through that AB 1811 funding, but DGS certainly pays attention to it, and we’re buying E85 for our bulk fueling right now.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s not within your purview to figure out the policy rationale criteria for that particular program?
MR. SEMMES:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just a few final questions and I’ll ask the committee if you have any more.
Just in general, again, the benefit of having E85 in our fleet?

MR. COOK:  When we have access to fuel, we will be meeting both the spirit and the letter of EPAct by reducing petroleum dependence.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Even though we’re putting petroleum in it?

MR. COOK:  I said, when we have the fuel available, we will be able to do that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it.

MR. COOK:  That’s a future opportunity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, okay.  Has DGS ever put out a press statement—did the governor put any public announcements on the E85 flex-fuel vehicles program?

MR. SEMMES:  I’m not aware of that, sir.  I’d have to take a look at it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Can you get back to us on that?

MR. SEMMES:  Sure.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And, you know, because we’re in the mode of clean air, I mean, was there any sort of—you mentioned a competitive-bid process.  But was any sort of political pressure applied that moved to E85 beyond some sort of environmental greenhouse benefit, even though we’re not using the fuel?  I mean, was there any sort of directive given by the Governor’s Office in order to move you folks?  Everything seemed to happen in 2006.  A lot of things happened in 2006 and can you give us…

MR. SEMMES:  No, sir.  There was none.  And remember, that procurement process is complex and is there to guarantee fairness, but you just have to remember that only one bidder wins a bid, and that’s just the way it is.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And it might just be one—how many bids did I you get for this?

MR. SEMMES:  I’d have to find out for your, sir.

MR. COOK:  I know there were multiple.  I don’t know what the, I don’t know what that answer is.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  If you can get back to us.
MR. SEMMES:  Sure.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And members, do you have any other questions.  Senator Maldonado, any other questions?  Then we’re going to go to the next panel.

SENATOR MALDONADO:  I just wanted to say that I appreciate your coming here today and taking all these questions.  I know you’ve got a job to do and you do that job.  I was a mayor of a small town and there was always a situation, but there was an open line of communications with the department to forward the message to somebody and knowing their hands weren’t going to be slapped and maybe reward some proactivity on the notion that, you know, we’re buying these cars and we’re not getting any benefit.  The fact of the matter, probably not cleaning the air as quick as we should.  And has that ever been an initiative to come forward and say, you know what?—I appreciate what we’re trying to do in the state.  We’re trying to clean up the air but the stations aren’t there.  Was there any inclination from any of you folks in your department or to the administration and saying, look it, we’re buying these cars; we don’t have the fuel stations; the fuel station that we do have isn’t being used—did that ever go up the ladder to anybody?

MR. COOK:  Well, those have all been expressed in AB 1811, I mean, with the funds to bring up infrastructure.  There have been conversations about infrastructure that having a publicly available retail infrastructure is the only thing that would make any alternative fuel really excel within the State of California.  ARB can speak to it more directly, but that’s happening.  And, by the way, for the prior state’s experience in complying with the Federal Energy Policy Act, this is the first real effort at building infrastructure that’s ever occurred, and we’re talking about a decade of compliance.  So it’s happening under this administration.

SENATOR MALDONADO:  Just for me to go down in my district and go tell folks, you know what?—we purchased all of these flex-fuel cars and we’re going to clean the air and we’re going to comply or we’re going to do this and, oh, by the way, there’s no fuel for that, that just doesn’t make sense to them.  I think that’s why Senator Florez is having this oversight hearing, and I hope that there’s some changes where you guys can be a little bit more vocal to folks that you’re working with.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Assemblymember, Lieu, would you like any comments before DGS is dismissed and we have the next panel?
ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  Yes.  In July 2003, DGS put out a report along with two other agencies, and you all made recommendations.  In your recommendation, it says:  DGS recommends the following strategies to reduce petroleum use in a state fleet, but that procedure is for annual evaluation fuel economy and use alternative fuels and bi-fuel and natural gas and propane vehicles.  That was in 2003, and it just seems like you sort of went against your own recommendations and not actually use alternative fuels and use bi-fuel vehicles.  And hopefully, with Senator Florez’s leadership calling this hearing that you’ll adjust your policies and get a cleaner fleet.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s a good bill out there too, right, Assemblyman Lieu?  There’s a good bill out there.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER LIEU:  AB 295.  I hope the governor signs it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, all.  Thanks for coming.

And let’s go ahead and go to the Air Board, if we could, and Thomas Cackette, executive director, and Rob Oglesby.  Thank you very much.

MR. ROBERT OGLESBY:  Good Morning, Senator.  Rob Oglesby representing the Air Resources Board.  And if I could first say that our brand new chairman, Mary Nichols, had to be in Southern California for a longstanding obligation and couldn’t be here today.

Okay.  But with me, I have Tom Cackette who is our acting deputy executive, or acting executive officer, and has been for years the deputy executive officer in charge of our mobile source programs, and you may recall he has testified before your Select Committee on Mobile Source programs previously.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Well, thank you for being here.  I appreciate it

I want to focus, if I could, on just a couple of issues.  And just to let the members know, we’ve had 20 minutes at the beginning of the hearing on Panel I, 95 minutes with our DGS folks, and now we’re going to try to keep this to about 15 minutes, if we could.

First and foremost, I want to talk about what you’ve heard on the chart that they left.  They were in such a hurry to get out that I think they forgot their charts.  But the 58 or 59 choices or so that we have offered—what is that, Art, 59?  Do we know, in terms of the E85 cars, which actually has passed muster with the  Air Board so we can actually get a better idea of what that number is?

MR. THOMAS CACKETTE:  Yes.  For 2007 models, the current model, depending on how you define a model, there’s somewhere on the order of 25 that passed all of the smog standards for the state.  Some of those are distinctly different.  For example, there’s a Mercedes Benz vehicle; there’s a Crown Victoria; and other ones are variations of different vehicles like a Tahoe versus a Tahoe longer version and things like that.  But those were all certified to meet all the smog standards in the state.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what’s your interaction—I mean, and then we’ve run into other problems, what we can buy.  So, in other words, we have a subset of the 50-plus, and then we get to a much smaller subset in terms of what DGS’s own regs allow us to purchase; is that correct?  In other words, you don’t go beyond the air emission issue, or do you define that even more so on…

MR. CACEKTTE:  No.  I believe that DGS, first of all, will only buy vehicles from the cleaner groups of our low-emission vehicles.  We have five different categories and they’ve said it’s got to be at the cleaner end, and then I believe they also have a fuel economy number that they will not buy if it’s poorer than a certain number.  And so those go into their bidding process.  And then where this idea of one vehicle per class, like large cars, pickup trucks, et cetera, comes through the bidding, there’s 25 or something they can select from, and they make that low-bid choice and then that’s what people use.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And tell us about, if you could, the legislation of funding, the $25 million that the Air Resources Board got through the Laird bill, 1811, and, you know, what the plan for that is, how can we—I mean, you’re kind of the core of the hearing.  You’re going to help us build the retail necessary to make this all work, and maybe if you can just give us an update on where we are in that process.

MR. CACEKTTE:  Okay.  Last year in our budget, there was $25 million placed to help us build alternative-fuel infrastructure and alternative-fuel vehicles  We collaborated with the Energy Commission to try to identify where are the most productive areas, where’s there’s the most need for government money to help, sort of supercharge or jumpstart various alternative fuels.  One of those was ethanol E85, and so we identified that, we identified plug-in hybrid vehicles, and a few other categories, and then we solicited bids from people to meet these general areas, and that went out last fall.  We’ve got way more bids than we had money for, and we went through a rigorous selection process, took it to our board.  This May, it was approved, and the contracts have already been signed by June 30 and are in place—or the grants actually—not contracts.

In that area of ethanol, we granted about $5.5 million worth of ethanol station placements.  These are focusing on retail, and those amount to 47—it was mentioned before—47 stations that will be built—or not stations will be built, but dispenser systems will be built at stations, some of that at private fleets.  And those will be in place in no more than two years from now.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So when you say no more than two years from now, is that a requirement of the contract signed with these particular folks?

MR. CACEKTTE:  Well, I think, yes, it is.  Money has to be expended within a two-year period and installing an ethanol station is not that complicated, although there are many permitting issues that have to be overcome, and so we think that’s a reasonable timeframe.  I know some of them will probably, like the one down in Turlock, I believe, it will probably go in much quicker than some of them that are in the more retail stations.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so you’re saying this would create about 47.  Do we have a geographic breakdown of where those particular stations will be?

MR. CACEKTTE:  Yes, we do.  There’s some in most of the urban areas of California, but we made a conscious decision to try to cluster them in one area.  And based on the bids, we selected Sacramento, so 30 or those 47 will be in the Sacramento area, and the idea was to create a more dense network of E85 fueling stations, and not just for DGS purposes but this is for the public to use and to basically to be an experiment to see whether people will buy them, whether there were any problems for fueling and things like that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that you’ve targeted top priority areas, because if 30 out of the 47 are Sacramento, how does one read into that if you’re living in Bakersfield or Santa Maria or some of the other areas where some of our fleets may have been deployed?  Do you know where our fleets are?  Maybe you know.  They didn’t know.  I mean, ultimately…
MR. CACEKTTE:  I don’t know where.  But specifically, they are—I know we have state vehicles, if you’re referring to the fleets, all over the state.  And, of course, more important from this standpoint, was that, in this decision was, we’re trying to target the retail and we have over 300,000 ethanol-capable vehicles all over the state, and so that’s why we had decided to cluster, to see how the private sector would respond to the availability of this fuel.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you looking at the private sector, or are you looking at our fleets as well, I mean, in terms of the driver for this?  Because I think the argument for the administration is that the government, being the large buyer, is really the driver of this.  If a car comes and then the fuel comes second, it seems to be, if I can kind of paraphrase kind of what they were saying—I mean, are you in agreement with that?

MR. CACEKTTE:  Well, I think the manufacturers of the cars have been the drivers in this case because we have a large number of FFVs being sold.  Domestic car manufacturers have indicated that 50 percent of all models will be ethanol-capable by around the turn of the decade.  That’s where the large number of vehicles are.  And if you want to make an impact on emissions, we want to focus on using this sort of unused source of vehicles that can burn this cleaner fuel, and that’s what our focus was for the $25 million.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But it’s really, for the purpose of this hearing, the money is really $5.5 million; is that correct?

MR. CACEKTTE:  For E85, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I think the $5.5 million—let me just give you an example, I think of what Illinois did, and I keep referring to them because they did receive numerous awards for the amount of E85 that they have utilized, even though they have much smaller fleets than we do.  They targeted high-traffic areas and large fleets of E85, large government fleets, as part of their criteria.  Did we do a similar type of, for $5.5 million, did we follow that same type of path of logic?

MR. CACEKTTE:  Yes, in terms in terms of—it was a consideration in clustering in Sacramento because we know there’s a relatively large fleet of vehicles here, but the clustering again was focused on the private sector, not the government fleets, and, of course, the government fleets would be able to use those here which is, I think, it was a consideration.  But we really wanted to get it spread out to some degree over the state to sort of jumpstart the private sector which ultimately will put many more stations in.  That comes under our low-carbon fuel standard.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  In order to get more out there, one of the criteria for the State of Illinois was to focus in on folks that would promise to convert more than ten stations, so they owned—it wasn’t the single-station owner.  It was someone that maybe owned 20 stations; and if they were willing to convert ten of those, then they were preference because that would spread out, if you will, ethanol used throughout the state.  Do you also follow a similar criteria in order to get more stations out there?

MR. CACEKTTE:  Well, we had, in the case of Sacramento, we awarded a contract to one entity which will do the 30 stations they will then contract with.  In several cases, there was one station and one that was eight.  So it was a variety, depending on what the bid was, and we certainly considered that in ranking the bids.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And they also used a criteria that said that they would give proposed priority for ethanol retail to counties that currently have no more than one or none E85 refueling facilities.  Is that a useful criteria as well in order to kind of get it throughout the state in some sort of mass way?  I think it’s the same criteria the governor talked about with hydrogen highway.

MR. CACEKTTE:  I don’t believe we used that.  We’ve looked at having stations in major, in all the major, areas.  But again, we clustered them in Sacramento so there’s relatively few in LA versus Sacramento, for example.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And major areas would probably not include my district, right?

MR. CACEKTTE:  Well, there is one for Turlock, for the city.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s not my district.  So I represent 300 miles from Fresno to Bakersfield, so I mean are we not having an E85 station?  And kind of the only way to get to Los Angeles, the grapevine?  I mean is that one of the few ways to get there are that if you fly?

MR. CACEKTTE:  I believe that is the case, because it wasn’t Turlock either.  It was Tulare.  I’m sorry.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Oh, Tulare.

MR. CACEKTTE:  Of the one, for the City of Tulare.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.

MR. CACEKTTE:  But the next one to the south would be in the Los Angeles or Ventura area, north of Sacramento.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So there’s a swath of 400 miles, 99 or I-5 where they will have no E85 filling station?  Can you run out of gas in that amount of time?  I mean, E85, at least—that’s what the flex allows us?

MR. CACEKTTE:  That’s what the flex allows us.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you fill up, and the worst, dirtiest basin with petroleum and you leave it there and then you get to a cleaner area like Los Angeles—well, not Los Angeles—but maybe you’re going up north and you get to a cleaner area and you put an E85 in.  I mean, why wouldn’t we target some of these?  I know it’s greenhouse driven but, I mean, why wouldn’t we target in some of the dirtiest basins, for example?

MR. CACEKTTE:  I think you gave me—the answer is what you just mentioned.  These vehicles right now certify to the same emission standards.  They always haven’t in the past, but the same emission standard for both, when they run on ethanol and when they run on gasoline.  So while there is a relatively small difference, it’s not a big factor in their smog-forming emissions where the benefit comes from, is that on ethanol, the life cycle, greenhouse gas emissions are lower.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me get to those questions for a moment.  There’s a reason it’s a joint hearing of the Senate Select Committee on Air Quality and our GO Committee which overseas DGS, and that is, the governor has been very—and we’re very proud of him to say that at least in the San Joaquin Valley, that there’s more that can be done, that we haven’t done everything that we could; we shouldn’t extend deadlines.

You know, how is one to read the fact that we could have, at least in the dirtiest basin, gone to an alternative compliance program about hybrids which is, I believe is probably from a NOx and PM point of view, a bit better than our current vehicles, our E85?  Is that a correct assumption?

MR. CACEKTTE:  If you’re saying the most likely vehicles the state would buy, which are the compact cars, those are cleaner than—but, as you say, it’s a relatively small amount than this program that we’re discussing here, was focused on, eliminating greenhouse gas.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I think, I guess my question is, from a, the two problems you’ve mentioned, you know, the NOx and PM point of view, the argument has been made by the administration that these replaced cars that were dirtier, so therefore it’s a good thing.  And I guess our contention is, if you moved under an alternative-vehicle program, that EPA allows us for, more flexibility in terms of trying to move from petroleum to some other alternative, I mean, is that not a clean—not greenhouse gas—but it’s not a clean air, better response?  I mean, is that correct or at least absolutely the equivalent?

MR. CACEKTTE:  I don’t think the hybrids are absolutely equivalent to the cars that were purchased.  But when you look at replacing a vehicle that’s seven years or more, model years, older, its emissions will be many, many times higher than either the hybrid or this flexible-fuel vehicle and so it becomes…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m not arguing replacement.  I get that.  But I’m talking about what we could have bought in the future, I mean, what we could buy today as compared to waiting for E85 to come online, if you will.  I guess that’s my question.
MR. CACEKTTE:  Well, I think that, you know, looking at this, we strongly believe that there will be a role for E85 in the future, and that emanates both in the money that the legislature provided and we dedicated $5 million-plus to E85 but, more importantly, to the low-carbon fuel standard that the governor has directed us to develop and that standard will, we believe, will end up with a significant amount of ethanol, and it will put the burden of providing the supply in the stations on the fuel providers.  So we’ll see a blossoming of the number of stations here over the next decade.  And in the meantime, we’ll have this basic corn network that both the DGS fleet and we hope the private people will be able to use.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just from a clean-air perspective, the current E85 emission factors, as compared to hybrids again, in term of NOx and PM, are they equivalent or not?

MR. CACEKTTE:  When you say the current E85, meaning the one that was purchased?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  2007 Impala.

MR. CACEKTTE:  Impala.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  2007 Honda Civic Hybrid.  Which is better for the air?

MR. CACEKTTE:  The civic would have lower smog-emitting because it’s certified in what we call the super ultra-low emissions, whereas the Impala, I believe, is an ultra-low emission car, that both those words, though, are important.  They’re both very low-emitting vehicles.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what makes the Hybrid fit in the super class, what type of emission factors?

MR. CACEKTTE:  It’s in the super class for both—NOx is lower and by about 50 or 60 percent and the other smog-forming emissions, hydrocarbons, is also lower.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. CACEKTTE:  PM between them is not significantly different than both gasoline or liquid fuel, non-diesel fuel vehicles.


MR. OGLESBY:  But it’s important to point out those are two different vehicle classes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  They are, and it’s important for us simply because the administration has an opportunity to apply for an alternative-compliance program. And in the meantime, while we’re waiting for E85 to come online, we have a unique opportunity to diversify our portfolio of cars and still be in compliance with the EPA Act.  I mean, it’s just an issue—the first question I asked of the administration, Do you want more flexibility?  Absolutely.  That’s why we’re going to E85.  Well, there’s more flexibility if you look at the entire program under the EPA Act which is an alternative compliance program and, quite frankly, the regular program, and three states have applied in those categories as we speak.  So, I mean, they see something that California doesn’t, and that is, probably, in my view, and I think you would agree, you know, the best alternative for all of us is to be able to pull in a station and see regular gas, bio-diesel, and E85 all in one pump and you can make your choice, just like we do now between regular gas, medium gas, and super gas, or something of that sort.  That would be the alternative, great.  But until that time, I mean, I think our issue is simply, how do we, in certain areas, from a governor’s perspective, figure out how we can put vehicles in place that ultimately get to the super category that don’t make the problems worse, that don’t add, if you will, things we shouldn’t add?  And I find it, it’s just hard for me to believe that we would dump E85 cars, run them on regular gasoline in the dirtiest basin when have alternatives to pick, which might have been hybrids, for example, in the super category.  That’s what I’m…

MR. CACEKTTE:  I understand from listening to that.  But I do want to make the point, that if there is a seven-year life, that they will have five-sevenths of their life available with a reasonable selection of ethanol stations to fuel at.  In next year’s purchases, if they are E85, would be six-sevenths of their life will be available for E85.  So I don’t, my personal view is that…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But the first third of the life, we could have a hybrid on the road today, that is, NOx and PM…


MR. CACEKTTE:  Would be lower.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Lower.


MR. CACEKTTE:  A small amount.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The governor’s the one’s the one that’s looking for any small change we can make in a district.  I mean, I think that’s ultimately…

MR. CACEKTTE:  Well, I think part of the dilemma here is that we are pursuing all of these things.  For example, our zero-emission vehicle mandate has  a requirement, when it’s translated into practicality, is that there’s a large number of hybrid electric vehicles that will be required, and that number will be going up to over 10 percent of all sales here in the next decade.  So from that standpoint of efficient gasoline vehicles, we have that from the standpoint of the Pavley bill on greenhouse gases.  Assuming we survive the lawsuits there, that will have efficient, normal gasoline vehicles.  We have an ethanol effort underway for low-carbon fuel, and the vehicles to use it are being built right now.  And then we’ve got the hydrogen program which is the long-term vision.  And those all are, I think, are somewhat carefully woven into one package that it tries to address, both short and long term, smog and greenhouse gases, in a way that gets us from where we are today to both clean air and the governor’s goal of leadership on greenhouse gases for the world.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got it.  It’s just that in a dirty basin—and who said it?—it was Hobbs ?? or something of that sort—in the long run, we’re all dead.  So I’m just kind of making sure that we, you know, have some real strategies that are immediate as well, as well as short term.


MR. CACEKTTE:  And as you know in the basin, where folks lean very heavily on diesels for the NOx part and the PM part because they are the major contributor and we are even looking at another wave of tightening of the basic car emission standards to see if we can get them even closer to zero.  And so all of that activity is aimed at both the valley and the South Coast and bringing them into attainment.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I should say, we do appreciate the—I think I was at the Air Board meeting where we talked about all of the testing and modeling for the new ethanol additives, which is great.  I mean, it’s all positive stuff and it shows a lot of work that had gone into it.


Is bio-diesel part of the equation at some point for cars we could have bought?  The reason I mentioned bio-diesel is, one of the things that the EPA asked in this program is that we also have gas equivalence.  So in other words, if you can show on a certain ratio that you put something else in the tank, you don’t necessarily have to buy E85 if you in essence move to an alternative fuel.  I mean, is that—you know, we talk about E85, but bio-diesel hasn’t been mentioned.   I mean, is that part and parcel of what you folks look at or DGS looks at?


MR. CACEKTTE:  Yes, definitely.  I mean, in gallons terms, of course, the state burns a lot more, it burns something like, 15 (million) or 14 million gallons of gasoline a year and about 4—billion, not million—billion gallons of diesel fuel on an off road.  And so we look at both in meeting the greenhouse gas standards.  There’s a major effort underway to look at the use of bio-diesels.  And we took part of the money from the 1811 in the budget last year.  And while there wasn’t, we funded a few, couple of bio-fueled distribution centers, but we also put money into bio-fuel production to get people to be able to produce it because it lags, I think, where ethanol is today, where there’s a substantial growing production capabilities.  We want to help in that area.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I guess the question I have is, that when DGS takes a big bet like E85 and then we find out that they don’t use it or isn’t available or even at the pump that we have—it hasn’t been used—and we have bio-diesel, for example, as an alternative fuel, I mean, is that something that you have interplay with in terms of what purchases are from DGS or…


MR. CACEKTTE:  Well, I think that bio-diesel has to go in a diesel engine, and so we don’t have in the passenger car side any of them available.  In the light-truck side, we do have some.  The future, starting next year, there will be diesel passenger cars; and that’s part of the reason, again, we’re trying to anticipate that there could be a growing market for clean diesel and low-carbon diesel, which would be bio-diesel.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Appreciate it.


Okay.  Let’s go to Danielle Fugere, the regional policy director, Bluewater Network.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  …had to catch a flight.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I know Tim Carmichael was here and he had to leave, so thanks for joining us.


MS. DANIELLE FUGERE:  Yes.  Thank you.  Thank you for inviting me.  My name is Danielle Fugere and I’m the regional policy director of Blue Water Network and Friends of the Earth.

In recognition of the problems that we’re addressing today, Blue Water is sponsoring what we are calling the Green Fleets bill, which is AB 236, sponsored by Assemblymember Lieu.  And this bill solves the alternative-fuel fueling problem in two ways.  And whether it happens through the bill or some other mechanism, I think these points are important.


First is, it requires that the state fleet use the alternative fuel for alternative-fuel vehicles they currently have, unless it’s impossible to do so.  Now this addresses the problem of having fuel, having CNG cars, for instance, and employees not wanting to go all the way to the CNG station to fuel them.  So because it may be more convenient for them not to do so, they don’t.  And so this would require them to do it unless it’s impossible to do so.  It would also address—I think in one of the articles, there was a problem of a CNG station that hadn’t been fixed.  So again, it would be possible to fix that station.  It should be fixed immediately so that that fuel is used.


Secondly, creating the mandate, expanding the criteria the department uses in purchasing vehicles, one to include greenhouse gas emissions on a life-cycle basis and fuel use on a life-cycle basis and then also to look at the issues of the cost of fueling that vehicle over its entire lifetime, not just looking at the purchase price and also looking at infrastructure costs if the DGS or the state fleet has to pay those and also the cost of maintenance because what we want to do is encourage those cars that have the least cost and least pollution and then rank those vehicles in best in class ___ purchased, except if alternative fuel, if it’s an alternative-fuel car that’s best in class but alternative fuel is not available, then you would have to go to the second car on the list.  And what that would do would be, and I think we’re considering amending it to say, if that fuel is not available within the next two years because we understand the chicken-and-the-egg problem.  At the same time, you can’t just buy these cars and hope that the market is going to come and solve your problem.  What needs to happen is that DGS needs to be more active in actually bringing, getting this fuel on the market if it intends to buy those cars.  And they should be working with, for instance, if GM flex-fuel car is number one on the list, GM should help the state and really work to get that fueling infrastructure in place.  And if they can’t do it or it’s not planned within the next two years, that year, you buy a different car and you look again next year.  And if alternative fuel is available, then you purchase that car.


So we think it’s important to build these structures in currently into their purchasing structure and look not just at the cost of the vehicle today—I think that was raised—but looking at what is the life-cycle cost of that car, so we think those are important factors.  And this would also help change, if the purchasing methodology is a problem, then these mandates would help create the right purchasing methodology.  And so maybe you would say, well, all cars that have, for instance, in Sacramento, you could purchase flex-fuel vehicles because that fueling is available.  But if you’re outside of Sacramento and there’s not a fueling station available, then you should not be able to purchase that car unless it looks like, you know, in the next two years or something planned, so you would create the right structure.  So that’s what we think is important to help solve this problem, and I’m available to answer any questions.  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Well, I mean, just in general, what were your impressions of what you’ve heard from DGS?  Did it sound like it was a coherent policy, or are we moving, we’re creating this as we go?


MS. FUGERE:  I’m obviously concerned about the policy.  I don’t think that we should just say we’re going to buy flex-fuel vehicles because they solve the EPAct problem.  I think, no.  It may not even be an alternative-fuel car that is the cleanest one.  And so maybe you use the—that maybe that, as you’re saying, a hybrid is cleaner and it uses less gasoline so it solves the EPAct problem and you go with the alternative route.  So we don’t think that you necessarily want to pick an alternative-fuel car if it’s not solving the problem and moving us forward in terms of our greenhouse gas goals or alternative-fuel goals.  So you need to look at the whole picture, and I don’t think that that’s happening now.  I think changes do need to be made—understand and acknowledge the fact that you do have to create—you know, the vehicles do have to be there in order for fueling infrastructure to come on board.  But I don’t think it’s okay to just sit back and hope that will happen.  It hasn’t happened in the past.  The state needs to be more active in making sure that the fueling infrastructure comes online.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much for your testimony.


MS. FUGERE:  You’re welcome.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go onto the last panel which is Bob Sonnenfelt, president, Public Fleet Supervisors Association; and Dr. Mary-Beth Stanek, director of environment, energy, and safety policy for GM; and Bryan Taylor, government account manager, South East Region, Ford Motor Company.  Thanks for joining us.


Now the Public Fleet Supervisors Association, what is the, what composes the member?  What’s the membership of that organization?


MR. BOB SONNENFELT:  Public Fleet Supervisors Associations is cities, counties, municipalities in the greater nine-county area of the Bay Area.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And do you have to comply also with the EPAct, EPA Act?


MR. SONNENFELT:  Different cities and organizations may or may not have to comply.  Each organization comes under its own charter.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Are you saying it’s, some do, some don’t?


MR. SONNENFELT:  It’s a federal law that it goes to state agencies.  If you are operating under a state charter, I believe you do, but I’m not the lawyer.  I don’t know for sure.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe you can give me some indication in terms of flex-fuel vehicle purchases.  I mean, are others buying E85 out there or the State of California leading the way?  Are people still buying CNGs or hybrids, or what’s it look like from out there from an association point of view?


MR. SONNENFELT:  For the Public Fleet Supervisors Association, most of the purchases are regular gasoline or diesel.  There are some hybrid purchases and there are some CNG purchases, but those are very, very small.  We purchase vehicles for our clients who are the various departments and people doing work within the cities or the counties, and we have to purchase vehicles that meet their needs, to get their work done.  So buying a hybrid vehicle, for example, may do well, as far as for administrative sedan, getting from Point A to Point B or for an SUV, but it doesn’t do the job of replacing a truck that has a service body on it that has to go out and replace a hydrant or a meter or do some other type of work.  So there’s a limited amount of vehicles that meet that need.


There’s been a lot of talk about hybrid meeting the EPAct.  My understanding is that a hybrid vehicle does not comply with meeting with EPAct because it is a gasoline-fueled vehicle and EPAct requires an alternative…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  But we’re talking about under the Alternative-Fuel Compliance Program.  We’re not saying it’s added into the—we’re saying, that if you choose a route, you would have to apply for the Alternative-Compliance Program.


In terms of just your viewpoint and having being an implementer of most of this stuff, I mean, is it fair to say that we’re violating kind of the spirit of the EPAct law when we buy vehicles when we don’t use the fuel that’s supposed to go in those vehicles, or is it just the way it is?


MR. SONNENFELT:  I think a lot of it is the way it is.  We are—we have different governing boards, whether it be a city council, a board of directors, or a county commission that will mandate that that organization will have to purchase X-number of alternate-fuel vehicles.  And so they go out and they buy X-number of alternative vehicles.  We have very limited resources as far as for infrastructure within our own entities.  We have to provide gas for, and diesel for, the remaining of our vehicles.  We don’t have extra fuel tanks sitting around just to put something else in for every one or two vehicles they’re going to buy at a time.  We have to rely on the retail side to come into the market in order to get that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how confident are you that the retail sector is going to ramp up on this?


MR. SONNENFELT:  On E85?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MR. SONNENFELT:  I think E85 is probably the best alternative that they’ve had so far.  It’s probably—the beauty of the hybrids is the transparency to the user.  It’s no different from what they’ve done before.  E85 can be to that same level to any public person or any private enterprise that wanted to go get gas at a station that it could be E85 compatible.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


MR. SONNENFELT:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you remember purchases off the state contract or…


MR. SONNENFELT:  We buy vehicles off the State of California contract.  You know, my company itself uses that contract.  Some of the city, some of the other agencies within public fleet, they go to bid for themselves.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.


Okay.  Let’s go to GM, if we could.  The fuel economy—we’ve been talking quite a bit about Chevy Impala versus conventional Chevy Impala and running on gasoline.  Maybe you can give us some indication of what is it ultimately, and are there other GM models out there?

MS. MARY-BETH STANEK:  Well, I’d like to talk about a few things.


First of all, there was a lot of discussion today about the vehicles, the big choice over other choices, and I think it’s important to know, and in particular, we’ll start with the trucks.  And I promise to be brief because I know we’re running long.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  That’s okay.  Go ahead.


MS. STANEK:  The trucks are segment leaders.  There’s no—we’re number one.  So if you talk about gas reductions, the two reduction, even our closest competitor is off by quite a bit.  We estimated—and, of course, we didn’t have exact numbers—but let’s say plus or minus 5 percent—that on the truck purchases alone for the state, easily 500,000 gallons of gasoline.  It would be safe, and of course that translates to C02 savings, about 4,000 metric tons.  So when we were talking about some of these comparisons, it was very clear to me, that at least on the truck side, there wasn’t differentiation.  So I want to at least highlight that to the committee.


And then secondly, with regard to the Impala where so much of the discussion was centered, those vehicles are still very, very fuel efficient.  There was a lot of, I would say, more negative terminology that was being used, I think largely because of a particular editorial that was written.  But this is a very popular model, and it’s largely due to its fuel efficiency.


And what I would like to do, if we could, one of the reasons I was selected to come today is, because not only do I work on the flex-fuel expansion on our portfolio, but I’ve been working in 13 states throughout the country to get E85 pumps set.  We believe there’s three things that have to happen.  You have to have a lot of product offerings; you have to have a lot of marketing education for consumers, and you have to have pumps.  You know, we can’t be asking people to buy flex fuel if they can’t experience the fuel.  So to date, I’ve been able, with several folks here in the room, we’ve been able to get 250 pumps in 13 states.

Earlier in the testimony, there was an announcement about the Washington, D.C., pump.  That is what GM did with VeraSun.  E85 is selling for $2.55 at our nation’s capital today, and there will be five additional pumps coming to Washington, rather, overnight.  So we’re good at ceding markets with the pumps.  We’re good at doing marketing education ensuring the benefits of the fuel.  This does meet that California is exempt from this process.  We’ve been working in California for a year-and-a-half on this.  There are some issues, and I hope there’ll be some time today that I can talk about some pathways to get this resolved.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MS. STANEK:  With regard to the models—that’s what you asked—we have 14 models that are flex-fuel capable.  We are going to double our production in FFVs.  We have committed federally that we will go to 50 percent, assuming the infrastructure grows, but we’re not sitting on our hands watching infrastructure. We are putting our dedicated forces in at our company to help find partnerships to grow, to get E85 in.  So with that, I hope that kind of puts a little bit of an outline so that we can dive deep into some of the infrastructure challenges and get them resolved for California.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Why don’t we do that now?


MS. STANEK:  Okay.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What do you see as the infrastructure challenges for California so we can get these up and running?


MS. STANEK:  Well, first of all, I think you need to have a critical mass of vehicles, and I think one of the issues that was discussed quite today, Do you get the vehicles first, the fuel?


A retailer has three primary concerns.  First of all, are there enough vehicles on the road so it’s worth their while?  In other words, they don’t want pumps sitting there idly that no one’s going to pull up to.  Then what they start worrying about is conversion costs to their station.  Conversion costs, when you’re making very low margins and you’re making most of your money in your in-store sales, as opposed to your fuel, is something they just don’t want to take a bite out of.


We’ve worked in California—sorry, Colorado—and also in Illinois, which you’ve cited quite heavily where we have very good partnerships, and they were within 12 months, okay, so it was rapid; it wasn’t slow.  It was largely due because some of the state incentives and some of the private incentives or federal DOE incentives were put in place, so anywhere from 50 to 70 percent of their conversion was covered.


Now the challenge here is that some of the stations, in particular, some of the older stations, if they have to replace an underground fuel tank, you know, because some of them are old—and this is true across the nation—and they touch the ground.  What happens is, it invokes a lot of other regulations.  It’s not a bad thing.  It’s just the way it is.  So it isn’t so much that they have to pay a lot to convert to E85.  When they have to touch their station under the ground, it invokes a lot of different policy and regulatory things, which can be quite expensive.  So I can work on a station conversion in another state for maybe $10,000.  Here, we’re looking at station-conversion costs in the hundreds of thousands as a low end.  And that’s not bad or good.  It’s important just to kind of get a breakdown of why is it $10,000 in Colorado versus $100,000.  And it’s not—it’s very uneven.  So if you have, for instance, a station that has diesel sales, their tank is probably compatible with alcohol, with some change out.  In a situation like that, they could clean out their diesel, do a nice flushing of the system, some minor modifications with the proper permitting.  They probably can do it in the State of California for about $40,000.  So there’s some low ends if you can do some conversion.  But for the most part, it’s been priced because a retailer who’s already suffering from sales cannot see how they’re going to chin $100,000.

So what we do is, we have to raise some money.  I think that the $5.7 million is a great way to start.  Once you get ceded with ten stations, then they grow.  In all our partnerships across the country—for instance, in Chicago, we started out with 20 stations.  Our partner there alone is now at 30.  We have one large company we work with who has made a private decision, so I don’t want to name them publicly.  But with every new store now they open, they’re going to put E85 in.  So once you start, then you get this multiply effect of more stations.  So I think that’s what we have to work on.

I actually brought a map today.  I’ll be glad to leave it with you.  It shows all of the GM FFV density of ownership.  Then it shows where all our dealers are. And here’s how it works:  What happens is, once the folks are in their FFVs, we do owner notification to all of our owners.  It could be a postcard, it could be a fuel-card incentive that says, by the way, come to Retailer A.  Here’s $25 to use, to experience E85.  So when I approach a retailer, I’ll say, you have 50,000 FFV owners in your market, and I will do this card.


The other thing our dealers will do, they will do extensive promotion, whether it’s baseball games or in-store things, and we’re even working with Enterprise Rent-A-Car too.  Whenever I get a station, Enterprise is shifting their fleet to FFVs by that station.  So that, I tell that to the retailer.


Another thing that we really like to do with retailers is—where was I going with this?—is offer, with new-vehicle purchases, if you come in and buy a flex-fuel vehicle, you might get a nice-sized fuel card to go with it.  So I see these things as being good incentives to get the retailer to convert, and then we’ll do 85-cent days where will buy the fuel for a couple of hours and make sure that the consumer only pays 85 cents.  The important thing, what we’re trying to do, is we are driving people to use the stations.  And our dealers, who buy an awful lot of volume of fuel, have also committed in many states, in particular, Colorado, they will shift their fuel business to these green dealers who are selling E85.  So if you went and bought a flex-fuel vehicle today in Colorado at John Nedbed’s ?? store, it would be fully fueled with E85; you would have literature in the car; he would tell you where all the stations were in Colorado; he would inform you, that if you hit OnStar, it will tell you where the nearest E85 location is; and you can also get E85 price information.  So those are some of the tools we use at our company in conjunction with government and the fleets to make sure we can get E85 installed because we want to make sure the retailer can convert and also so their pump is not idle and also that they’re making margins on the fuel.  The price of ethanol, Ritegood ??, is very good right now and ripe for E85.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The thought process then is it’s exponential as you start to put some of these in?


MS. STANEK:  Almost overnight.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And why was Illinois more successful than—at this point, why—obviously…


MS. STANEK:  Well, what was said today was, there were more FFVs.  I think we’re on par in the State of California.  I would say there was a density around Chicago.  I would tell you the density around LA is the same.  Okay.  I would say that argument is not true.  I would say that there was a general discussion and support for bio-fuels.  It certainly helps when you have a state that is involved in every aspect of it.  So highlighting the production in the state is very important.  So obviously the mindshare of the consumers says, I’m buying fuel that was made right here.  It doesn’t mean that that’s a necessity.  It just means it makes it easier.


My charge has been work outside the grain belt, and so my work has been in Texas; it’s been Florida.  And we’re working very hard in the southeast and also in California, and some states, where there isn’t a natural grain supply.  And it take a little bit longer, but it’s certainly working.  The best benefit a state can do is to provide the incentives for conversion and to get their fleets to use the fuel.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.


Okay.  Ford, your thoughts.


MR. J. BRYAN TAYLOR:  Senator, in Ned’s ?? statement here, we are the biggest provider of government units across the country in the State of California and through the cities and counties.  Ned’s ?? statement here, we did not have a flex-fuel vehicle available in 2006 when the state modified the specifications, so that’s why we aren’t there and available.  We agree with my counterpart here, General Motors, that flex fuel is growing and growing vastly.  It will grow in the State of California.  For the 2008 model year, as echoed by the Department of General Services, the Crown Victorias that the CHP will buy will be—we are introducing the 2008 police version—will be flex-fuel capable.  So the Crown Vics that the CHP will be buying will be flex-fuel—they will be available and will account towards the EPAct credits for the state.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s the question I’m going to ask, and the same for GM.  You know, the models that are, if you will, Air-Board certified, I mean, are those going to be on the up tick in terms of additional or are we…


MS. STANEK:  You’re going to see more brands and a number of displacements, although both of us can’t discuss our portfolios specifics, but you’re certainly going to see four, six, and eight cylinder; you’re going to see compact, midsize, and large.  So that’s just the way it’s going.  As mentioned earlier on our proposed commitments, obviously we have to get there by touching all brands and engine spacements ??.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you all.  Appreciate it.  Thanks.  If you could leave your material, that would be wonderful.


MS. STANEK:  We can do another presentation but…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  That would be great.


MS. STANEK:  There’s a couple of other things that should be helpful.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  We’re going to call our hearing to a close, unless there is any outstanding comments.


Yes.  Very briefly.  Thank you for joining us.  If you state your name for the record, that would be wonderful.

MR. CHARLIE PETERS:  Yes, Senator Florez and Committee, my name is Charlie Peters, Clean Air Performance Professionals.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MR. PETERS:  And I very much appreciate the opportunity to be here today and to share an opinion or two with you.


In my view, I think there was a lot of very interesting information and very accurate information that was provided.  However, having said that, I think there was—there’s some additional information that may be appropriate for your consideration.  The issue of California’s water supply, the creation of significant amounts of ethanol in California is likely to use a significant amount of our water supply.  I’m seeing figures from 2 to 8 gallons of water per gallon of ethanol.  We’re also seeing significant water contamination issues from growing of corn and affecting huge areas in the Gulf of Mexico, making them all dead, because of the creation of this product.


Another factor that maybe should be appropriate to give some consideration to is, there appears to be a very significant escalation of food prices impacted by the markets of moving a lot of products into the ethanol issue.  We are seeing food riots in Mexico City due to significant increases in the price of tortillas.  We’re seeing huge increases in price, and this seems to be just starting to significantly take off and may be very heavily impacting the whole world’s economy and could even be a factor in causing some real detriment to the entire world’s economy and certainly in California’s economy.


Another factor is that it appears to me as though the corn ethanol policies seem to all result in an increase in the use of oil, an increase in the use of oil and an increase in the profitability of the oil companies.  The example of the—a question came up today about, What does it cost extra to purchase an E85 duel-fuel vehicle?  And the answer was, nothing.  Well, it costs more money to make that vehicle, but there are significant benefits to the car manufacturers for making those vehicles in that they get significant credits, and their average-miles-per-gallon standards, which benefits the oil companies and makes it to where they have much more flexibility in making vehicles that use much more fuel.  So these are factors, Senator, that I think need to be a part of this discussion.  I think they’re very important.  Clean Air Performance Professionals represents motorists.  Our indications from the general public is they’re quite concerned about the price of gasoline; they’re concerned about the environmental impact of the gasoline.  All of these factors seem to me to be, can be significantly improved with some further consideration of this overall issue and that possibly a waiver on the requirements for using this in our gasoline in California might very well create a very significant benefit to California, and that waiver is allowed in the 2005 energy bill a year at a time, but it appears as though this is having a significant economic impact on California, environmental impact on California—an impact on our water and our food costs—and it needs some further discussion, more opening up this discussion through additional issues, that we think are very important to California.  Thank you, Senator.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.


MR. PETERS:  Be happy to answer any questions, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I have no questions.  Thank you very much.  Thank for your statement.


Any other member of the public like to comment?  Okay.  Seeing and hearing none, we will go ahead and adjourn the GO Committee.  There will be a transcript available as soon as Brenda—when are you going to get done with the transcript, Brenda?  A week?  Okay, in a week.  No, I’m kidding.  We’ll go ahead and adjourn the GO Committee, and I do want to thank the Republican consultant, as always, for sitting through this, and my staff, and we will adjourn.
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